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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
F IR EE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Tian
Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “"Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group operates its business through three segments, namely
integrated plastic solutions segment, electronic cigarette (the
“e-cigarettes”) products segment and medical consumable products
segment. The integrated plastic solutions segment engages in mould
design and fabrication services as well as plastic component design and
manufacturing services. The e-cigarettes products segment engages
in the manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products. The Group's
medical consumable products segment engages in the manufacturing
and sales of disposable face masks products under our own brand name
of "CAREWE". The Group distributes our products within the domestic
market and to overseas markets, including Europe, Asia and the United
States (the "U.S."). During 2023, the Group obtained the Authorised
Economic Operator ("AEQ") Certificate issued by the China Customs,
which could improve the operational efficiency of the Group.

During 2023, the macroeconomy and consumer confidence were
inevitably affected by high inflation rate for necessities and high interest
rates. It was an uneasy year for most of the businesses. Additionally,
as disclosed in the Company's public announcements dated 14 March
2022, 14 June 2023 and 12 January 2024, the exclusivity term between
the major customer of e-cigarette products (“Exclusivity”) was removed.
Therefore, the number of sales orders for e-cigarettes products was
adversely affected. The Group recorded a decrease in both revenue and
profit after tax during the year. Facing all these uncontrollable external
factors and the volatility environment, throughout the year, the Group
has integrated the team and invested in research and development
projects to support the long-term development of the Group. A research
and development centre was established in our Shenzhen office,
primarily focusing on advancement of the core technology of e-cigarette,
including atomization technology, coils technology and other related
technologies.

During the Year, the Group's total revenue amounted to approximately
HK$697.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately 39.0% (2022:
HK$1,743.9 million). The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
HK$135.9 million (2022: HK$260.1 million) with a gross profit margin of
approximately 19.5% (2022: 22.7%).

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2023
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The Group recorded a profit for the Year attributable to equity holders of
the Company of approximately HK$23.5 million (2022: HK$105.9 million).
Basic earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company
were approximately 3.78 HK cents (2022: 17.09 HK cents).

FUTURE PLAN AND PROSPECTS

The high inflation rate, high interest rate and risk of a downturn
in the global economy will continue to cast uncertainties over
the business environment and consumption confidence. In light
of this challenging business environment, we will continue our
efforts in prospecting new customers who are seeking high quality
e-cigarettes and plastic products. In addition, with the assistance
of the newly set up research and development centre, the Group's
core technologies and competitive advantages will be greatly
enhanced. This enhancement will contribute to the expansion of the
product range, including but not limited to e-cigarette products and
medical consumable products, and provide momentum for long-
term growth. In the meantime, the Group will strive to improve
cost efficiency to strengthen competitiveness. Considering all aspects of
the development mentioned above, we are optimistic about the Group's
future prospects.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my most sincere gratitude
towards the continual support from the shareholders and the valuable
contributions of the staff. The management team will continue to fulfill
its duties to create more values for the shareholders.

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ElfE R iR

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS
Integrated Plastic Solutions

Revenue from the integrated plastic solutions business division was
mainly derived from (i) the design and fabrication of plastic injection
moulds; and (ii) design and manufacturing of plastic components
employing the plastic injection moulds fabricated internally or by our
subcontractors.

The Group is able to specifically engineer and fabricate, with cavities
plastic injection moulds, to shape the plastic components in accordance
with the desired and customised design, features and specifications.
The Group has the technical capabilities to fabricate moulds that meet
the MT1 precision level as defined by the “National Standard of the
People’s Republic of China GB/T14486-2008-Dimensional Tolerances for
Moulded Plastic Parts” (1 # A R £ FIEIBI RIZAEGB/T14486-2008- 22}
E¥E 4 R /A Z) which is the highest precision level under the national
guidelines. By utilising the plastic injection process and applying the
plastic injection moulds fabricated by the Group or, in limited cases,
external subcontractors, the Group manufactures plastic components
for office furniture, office electronic products, home appliances,
communication products, automobiles, solar system and pool cleaners.

Manufacturing of e-cigarette products

The Group manufactures e-cigarettes products as an original
equipment manufacturer ("OEM") and sells to overseas and the
People's Republic of China (the "PRC"). Such e-cigarette products
include disposable e-cigarettes, refillable e-cigarettes, battery rods,
clearomisers, liquidpods and heated tobacco device. As disclosed on the
announcement dated 14 March 2022, the restrictive clause for accepting
the order from other customer in manufacturing the products which is
similar or competing to the products manufacturing for the well-known
tobacco group customer had been cancelled.

The Group obtained the Tobacco Monopoly Production Enterprise
License issued by the State Tobacco Monopoly Administration of the
People's Republic of China in respect of OEM with validity period from
28 June 2022 to 30 June 2023. In 2023, the license has been further
extended for two years.

Manufacturing of medical consumable products

The Group manufactures disposable face masks by utilising the
cleanroom facilities in the Group's production plant in Huizhou and
acquiring disposable face mask production machines since 2020, as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 July 2020. Apart
from this, the Group also engages in the manufacturing and sales of
medical devices products.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS (conTINUED)
Manufacturing of medical consumable products (Continued)

The cleanroom facility in Huizhou has been certified in compliance
with the standard of “YY/T 0033-2000 Good manufacture practice
for sterile medical devices” as recognised by the National Medical
Products Administration in the PRC. The manufacturing quality system
has also fulfilled the standard of EN 1SO13485:2016 Medical Devices-
Quality Management Systems as certified by the Société Générale
de Surveillance S.A. ("SGS"). In addition, the Group has been granted
Medical Device Manufacturing Enterprise License (58 88 4= EE 57 1] 75)
on medical device production issued by the National Medical Products
Administration in the PRC.

The procedure face masks have been tested and proved to have attained
the standard of ASTM F2100 Level 3 in the U.S. and the standard of
EN14683 Type lIR in Europe. Apart from the procedure face masks, the
Group also developed face masks with higher level of protection, such as
particulate face masks — KN95 and FFP2. The particulate face masks —
KN@95, has passed the requirements of GB2626-2019 standard in the PRC
and NIOSH N95 — Pre-Certification Test issued by the ICS Laboratories
in the U.S. In addition, the particulate face masks — FFP2, has also
passed the requirements of EN 149:2001+A1:2009 standard, credited as
FFP2 NR protective respirator, and certified with CE Mark (through SGS
Fimko Oy, Notified Body #0598) granted by the SGS. Furthermore, the
Group has obtained the Section 510(k) premarket notification ("PMN")
clearance from the United States Food and Drug Administration ("FDA")
in August 2022 on our surgical particulate face masks — N95 and FFP2,
indicating that our particulate face mask products are safe and effective
to be used in medical and surgical situation. And they can be legally sold
and marketed in the U.S..

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$697.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$446.4
million, or approximately 39.0%, from approximately HK$1,143.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Revenue from the integrated plastic solutions segment for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately HK$572.4
million, accounting for approximately 82.1% of our total revenue
and representing a decrease of approximately HK$14.7 million, or
approximately 2.5%, from segment revenue of approximately HK$587.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. This was primarily due
to the decrease in orders from the Group’'s major customers during the
year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREst IR iR

FINANCIAL REVIEW (coNTINUED)
Revenue (Continued)

The e-cigarettes products segment revenue for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately HK$122.7 million, accounting for
approximately 17.6% of our total revenue and representing a decrease
of approximately HK$430.5 million, or approximately 77.8%, from
segment revenue of approximately HK$553.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2022. The decrease was resulted from the decrease in
sales orders for e-cigarettes products following the removal of the
Exclusivity.

The medical consumable products segment revenue for the year ended
31 December 2023 was approximately HK$2.4 million, accounting for
approximately 0.3% of our total revenue and representing a decrease
of approximately HK$1.2 million, or approximately 33.3%, from
segment revenue of approximately HK$3.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2022. The decrease was primarily due to the relief of the
mandatory mask-wearing requirements in Hong Kong during the year,
which affected the number of orders for medical consumable products
sold.

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$135.9 million (2022: HK$260.1 million), representing a gross profit
margin of 19.5% (2022: 22.7%).

Segment gross profit for integrated plastic solutions for 2023 was
approximately HK$122.9 million (2022: HK$146.9 million), representing
a gross profit margin of 21.5% (2022: 25.0%). The decrease in gross
profit margin was resulted from the change of product mix of which the
products are of lower profit margin.

Segment gross profit for e-cigarettes products for 2023 was
approximately HK$15.2 million (2022: HK$113.0 million), representing
a gross profit margin of 12.4% (2022: 20.4%). During the year, sales
volume decreased. The fixed overhead per unit sold is thus higher and
lowered the gross profit margin. In addition, there was a change of
product mix of which the products are of lower profit margin.

Segment gross loss for medical consumable products for 2023 was
approximately HK$2.2 million (2022: gross profit HK$0.2 million),
representing a gross loss margin of 91.7% (2022: gross profit margin
5.6%). During the year, the Group provided an allowance for inventories
on slow-moving medical consumable products resulting a gross loss for
medical consumable products.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (coNTINUED)
Other Income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$16.1 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$8.2
million, or approximately 103.8%, from approximately HK$7.9 million
for the same period in 2022. The increase was contributed by the
rental income received from leasing the new factory premises to an
independent third party during the year. However, due to the poor
business environment, the tenant terminated the lease. Therefore,
the Group received a termination fee from the tenant for the early
termination. Apart from this, the increase also resulted from an uptick in
bank interest income received.

Selling and Distribution Costs

Selling and distribution costs for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
approximately HK$4.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$1.2 million, or approximately 20.7%, from approximately HK$5.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was
primarily because of the decrease in sales volume during the year.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year ended 31
December 2023 were approximately HK$114.8 million, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$15.9 million, or approximately 12.2%,
from approximately HK$130.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. The decrease was resulted from a decrease in discretionary bonus
paid to the Directors and senior management during the year.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2023 were approximately
HK$5.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$1.8
million, or approximately 25.0%, from approximately HK$7.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the repayment of the secured bank borrowings during the
year.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
approximately HK$2.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$8.4 million, or approximately 77.1%, from approximately HK$10.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. Such decrease was
attributable to the decrease in profit before tax.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREst IR iR

FINANCIAL REVIEW (conTINUED)
Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, profit for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately HK$23.5 million, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$82.4 million, or approximately 77.8%, from
approximately HK$105.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and banking facilities provided by its principal bankers.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$132.6 million (2022: HK$128.4 million). Interest-
bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2023 was approximately HK$61.9
million (2022: HK$128.8 million) with weighted average effective interest
rate of approximately 3.91% per annum (2022: 4.19% per annum). The
Group's gearing ratio as at 31 December 2023, calculated based on the
total borrowings to the equity attributable to owners of the Company,
was 8.8% (2022: 18.9%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transaction of the
Group are mainly carried out and conducted in Hong Kong dollars, U.S.
dollars and Renminbi. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk
by performing regular reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange
exposures and to mitigate the impact on exchange rate fluctuations
by entering into foreign currency forward contracts, if necessary. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any outstanding foreign
currency forward contracts. The Group will continue to evaluate the
Group's foreign currency exposure and take actions as appropriate.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has made no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, certain buildings, machineries and equipment
and right-of-use assets in respect of the prepaid land lease payments
with aggregate net carrying amount of approximately HK$374.7 million
(2022: HK$431.1 million) and key management insurance contracts with
fair value of approximately HK$32.6 million (2022: HK$31.6 million) were
pledged as security for bank facilities.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

No material events occurred subsequent to 31 December 2023 which
may have a significant effect on the assets and liabilities or future
operations of the Group.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group has 936 employees as at 31 December 2023. The Group's
remuneration policy is to compensate its employees based on their
performance, qualifications and the Group's operational results. The
total remuneration of employees includes basic salaries, performance
bonus and share options. Directors and senior management of the
Group receive compensation in the form of fees, salaries, allowances,
discretionary bonus, share options, defined contribution plans and other
benefits in kind with reference to those paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and the performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses its Directors and senior management for expenses which
are necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision of services to
the Group or executing their functions in relation to the operations of the
Group. The Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration
and compensation packages (including incentive plans) of its Directors
and senior management, by reference to, among other things, market
level of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable companies,
the respective responsibilities of its Directors and senior management
and the performance of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group has no plan to make material investments or increase its
capital assets.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company and any of its subsidiaries have not purchased, redeemed
or sold any of its listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2023.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK2.0 cents
per share) to the shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company at the close of business on Tuesday, 18
June 2024. The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on
Thursday, 30 May 2024. The final dividend, if approved, is expected to be
paid on Friday, 28 June 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS - HBREIGHRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT
Report Overview

This "Environmental, Social, and Governance Report” (referred to as
the "ESG Report” or "Report”), is being presented by Tian Chang Group
Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (referred to as “Tian
Chang’, the "Group” or "We"). The purpose of this Report is to disclose
the environmental, social and governance ("ESG") initiatives, programs
and performance about the Group's activities during the period from
1st January 2023 to 31st December 2023 (referred to as the “Reporting
Period”, “FY2023", or "2023").

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The scope of this ESG Report includes the Group’s office operations in
Hong Kong, namely Tian Chang Industrial Limited, Sun Leader Mould
Industrial Limited and Tian Hong New Materials Technology Limited.
In addition, operations of integrated plastic solutions, manufacturing
of electronic cigarette (the “e-cigarettes”) products and medical
consumable products in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") are
also covered in this ESG Report, which included Tian Chang Industrial
(Shenzhen) Limited* (REEZ(XINBRAF]), Hui Zhou Tian Chang
Industrial Company Limited* (MM AEZTEEGMR A F]), Sun Leader
Mould Industrial (Shenzhen) Limited* (¥TF:ZER A (ORI AR F), Sun
Leader Mould Industrial (Huizhou) Limited* G FI:ZEE AT (BN AR
/7)) and Tian Hao New Materials Technology (Hui Zhou) Limited* (K&
SRR (N B R AR,

The Group considers that the above subsidiaries are relatively significant
from environmental and social perspectives, therefore, the relevant data
from these subsidiaries are collected and included in this ESG Report.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd., Tian Chang Investments Limited, Sun
Leader Holdings Limited, Tian Chang Holdings Limited and Guang Dong
Tian Yuan Electronic Technology Limited* (B AE TR AR AR
are excluded from this ESG Report as they have no business operation
and thus their contributions are immaterial to the Group.

*

For identification purpose only.

Reporting Framework

This report has been prepared in accordance with the mandatory
disclosure requirements and “comply or explain” provisions of the ESG
Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide’) as set out in Appendix C2
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”). Please refer to the Stock
Exchange Content Index in this report for information on the location of
specific disclosures.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2023
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Reporting Principles wERA

In the process of preparation of this Report, the Group have adhered to R EIARIRE HE@REARENIBRES K
the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as the SEBEER TIRE « A& LEAREIE I T E

following: R EMmERA - ARSI -
Materiality A materiality assessment was conducted to identify material issues during the Reporting

Period, thereby acknowledging the material issues as the focus for preparation of this ESG
Report. Please refer to the sections headed "Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” for further details.

B2 BPPETERMFEABRNRENRNEEZSRE  EMRACERNEEREIERER
RE - HEgMERMENER - AHE— B F2HSNHEL2E | M EEME]
B -

Quantitative Supplementary notes are added along with quantitative data disclosed in this ESG Report

to explain any standards, methodologies, and sources of conversion factors used during the
calculation of emissions and energy consumption.

E1t RIR - HEeMEAREMKRENE(CBIBEC MAMRME - ARBTEEERRERER
W P A E IR« A NEBRAHRHR -

Consistency The preparation approach of this ESG Report is substantially consistent with the previous
year, and explanations were provided regarding data with changes in the scope of disclosure
or calculation methodologies.

—Bt RIRE  HEREGMENREFTEZABELFE -3 UTHKESERFFE T EZS
B BUR AR RE o

Balance This ESG Report is completed based on fact and actual data disclosure to avoid biased
judgement and misleading information to the report readers.

R RIRIR - Tiﬁ& ERME NIRBEERERBIBRE TN - LB RIRMEE R A RRE
ﬁul%*&%ﬁg

Forward-looking Statements A BE 1 R

This Report contains forward-looking statements based on the current  ZA¥RE & A RTIEERR M - ZEMR T E R AR E
expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs, and assumptions of BRIEEEBREEMEMSIEE - #f
the Group about the businesses and the markets in which it and its 5~ J88] - E2 RBEMIEL o ZZATIEMLRR
subsidiaries operate. The forward-looking statement is not a guarantee ~ #IZFEE KRR KRIBHRE - WX MHER - T
of future performance and is subject to market risk, uncertainties, and ﬁﬁmlﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁiT SINERFATE - B

factors beyond the control of the Group. Therefore, actual outcomes and BB A BE B AN 3R 5 PTVE R AR S P8k R
returns may differ materially from the assumptions and statements in Lﬁ%ﬁ °
this Report.
R EEEERERA 13
2023$$$ﬁ
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RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

Contact and Feedback

Your feedback is valuable to our continuous improvement, and we
welcome any comments and suggestions you may have on this ESG
Report. Please share any comments or suggestions regarding the
Group's ESG performance by info@hktcgroup.com.

The Board
EEg

The ISO

B A% e I BE

AEEFFERCNERLRE

FENEZMEZ- ZZD%/_\%T$¥& e

ENEARBERENERIES
A E YR

info@hktcgroup.com 7 Z &R ¥ &£ [F i&ii

K E R A FF e el i

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
BRI - ENERAEESR

= Oversee ESG-related approach, strategy, and policies.

= Assess materiality issues, risks and opportunities.

= Set goals and targets, and oversee the Group’s sustainability performance.
= Review and approve the ESG report.

FRRIR

Review ESG strategies and policies.

Act as a coordinator to oversee ESG performance in our factories and operations.

Set the target reduction of different environmental performance with the Board's approval.

Monitor and assess the achievability of the targets.

Report information and management on sustainability risks and performance to the Board annually.

*””TﬁWEJE’J

’ uFJLiE
e
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Department

ISO EE&A B

» BERS ?i’“&”ﬁ/ﬁ%ﬂii&ﬁ%f'
- EEHHAS A HAImREEE

» E NETHTRRE \@ZE’UEESZTJFEM
- WYIER REHE BRI R BRI

- BREAREERNRER

The Board Statement

The Board takes overall responsibility for our ESG strategy, overseeing
the executive management in developing the approach and execution
of the strategy, as well as the associated reporting. The Group has a
clear organisational hierarchy to carry out different parts of operations
within the Group. The Board is responsible for overseeing long-term
sustainable development for all operating companies under the Group,
determining the Group's ESG approach and supervising the relevant
department in providing relevant policies with appropriate measures.
Furthermore, to attain the goal of sustainable development and meet
the stakeholders’ expectation, the Board will ensure a close cooperation
between all departments and formulate a clearer ESG objectives and
targets for the Group.

The Board exercises diligent oversight of ESG issues, reflecting the
Group's unwavering commitment to promoting sustainable development
throughout its business operations. Environmental considerations are
integrated into the decision-making processes, ensuring a harmonious
equilibrium among economic growth, environmental stewardship, and
societal well-being. The Board actively monitors and addresses ESG
challenges and opportunities, fostering long-term value creation while
upholding responsible business practices.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2023
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The ISO Department

The Group has accredited ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 certifications, the
ISO department under the Board is mainly responsible for reviewing
ESG strategies and policies and act as a coordinator to oversee ESG
performance in our factories and operations. The ISO department sets
2021 as the baseline for the target reduction of different environmental
performance with the Board's approval. The ISO department also closely
monitors and assesses the achievability of the targets. In addition,
information and management on sustainability risks and performance
is reported to the Board by the ISO department, through meetings
annually.

2030 Environmental target

Setting up ESG environmental targets is crucial for the Group committed
to sustainability and responsible business practices. These targets help
guide and measure our efforts in minimising environmental impacts and
promoting sustainability.

Below is our ESG Environmental targets:

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

ISOBERE

AEEDBHEIS0 9001 IS0 14001 RE - S
EEEMISOBETFTZEEREIRE Lok
ERRBRBUR  WEAHFAE  AEEER
MHERRE  HeREANEMRREE - 1S0H
ZEBE T A 2021 F A EESTH T EIEIRIBEA N
RBHEE IR - WBEEESHUE - ISOB R
METEEA R B IZ R B/ - o B
B ERRARBIREERRERYSH
ISOBERNERTREFMNESGELR -

2030 FIRIERHE

RERE - HE@NERBEBRHREEEH IR
AREERNAEIRXERENER - G4
BRENEENGERMERDREZEM
RERFELETENS N -

RTREFNRE HEMEARNER

2030 ENVIRONMENTAL TARGETS

2030 REEE

N

Reduce energy consumption
intensity, including electricity,
gasoline, and natural gas, by
3% by 2030, using 2021
the baseline.

Reduce water consumption
by 3% by the year 2030, using
2021 as the baseline.

LA2021 FEBE %X « |

20304 B HEER D
3% o

Reduce hazardous and
non-hazardous waste by
10% by 2030, with 2021
set as the baseline.

LA2021 G- {EREZE - 5|
20304 + BERIER

Reduce carbon emissions
by 10% by 2030, with 2021
set as the baseline.

A2021 FAEREAE « B
20304F - ik BE HOR 2
10%

P REYRL A 10% o

By setting the ESG targets, we demonstrate our commitment to
environmental stewardship and sustainable practices. These targets
provide a roadmap for continuous improvement, drive innovation, and
contribute to a greener and more sustainable future.

BBRERE  HE@MERRR  HARTKT
HREEEMAFEERNAGE - GELAER
FESCERBTER  YEHRBTAF AR
ERBREMAFENRKMEER -

AEEZERERAF 15

2023F F 3} ‘
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Stakeholder Engagement

As a responsible business, we have the responsibility to build a thriving
future where we can create long-term value for our stakeholders.
We maintain an open dialogue with our stakeholders, including
management, employees, customers, suppliers, business partners,
charity groups and investors, to receive their comments and understand
their expectations on what the ESG issues matter most via meetings,
interviews, and discussions. We tried to reach our stakeholders through
all channels and consider ESG issues that are deemed as important by
both the Group and stakeholders as material ESG issues.

The following table provides an overview of the Group's main
stakeholders and various platforms and communication channels to
reach and respond.

KhhEsR

ERABEENEE  BMEEERBERR
Ko REFMOFHEAERREE - RFARRF
hEBREEE B8 TP H#E® X%
BH - REERBMEE)RBARYE 86
G AR RERELENE R T BRI
HRE HEREAEFENRIHE - HME
ANBBRRBEERNE  LEEIHEEM
ROEHFITREZNRE L MEAME
BRSERHZER °

TERERTRENEIESNERRALBBE
BARRZEMEE -

Major Stakeholders Engagement Channels
FEHHGE BREE
Shareholders and investors . Annual General meetings
° Financial reports
. Announcements and circulars
° Company websites
R EE o REBFRE
o HIBHE
o BHERE
o NEHYuh
Customers ° Customer service hotline
° Customer complaint mechanism
. Social media
L Questionnaires
. Customer meetings
®P o  EPRBARER
o EPIRFHEE
o HAEE
s MBEHE
. BFEH
Employees . Training, seminars, and briefing sessions
° Performance reviews
== o Fil AN ENEHERE

o  AEMGHA

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2023
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Stakeholder Engagement (Continued)

Major Stakeholders (Continued) Engagement Channels (Continued)

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

BFHhESHEH®)

FERHMDE (HF) BREEE(E)
Suppliers ° Supplier evaluation process
o Supplier audit
. Tender selection
HEn o HERFHERIZ
o HEREZ
o  HIRER
Communities and NGOs ° Community activities
° Employees volunteer activities
. Sponsor and donation
rIE AN SEBUR AR A% e HEEH
e BIEREEED
o  EEIMBHE
Media and the Public ° ESG Reports
o Company website
AR *  ESGHE
e QAEHEUL
Government and o Written or electronic correspondence
Regulatory Authorities . Phone meetings
T AN B & e e EMHAEFREE
. EBEEH

Materiality Assessment

By maintaining ongoing communication with stakeholders, the Group
gains a comprehensive understanding of their expectations and
concerns. In line with the global sustainability agenda, international best
practices, operational risks and strategies, as well as stakeholder input,
the Group identifies and evaluates material issues for FY2023. To ensure
comprehensive coverage, key stakeholders are engaged in discussions
regarding critical ESG issues. Following internal management
deliberations, validated ESG issues are approved for implementation. A
survey is conducted on the identified material ESG topics to gather input
and feedback from stakeholders, and the results are summarised in the
matrix provided below.

EE LS

BBHEBOHENSEBR  SE2E T A
WEIZEHAEE - REX2RAHERESRRE
BREZTE  2ERRMNERULBHENE
B EERETTE20BFBEFENEER
B BERE2ENRE  BHERERNRE
HEeEMERFRETHM EANLEETH
% BENRE HEeNERZEALBRET
BEEHENRENR HRENEEIRE L2
MEBEEBETHAS  WREEDEHERM
[REE - AEERT TEMEMPETT T84 -

AEEEIZERER AR
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Material Topics of the Group

1. Emissions and waste 2.
management

1. BEANREEY SR 2.

5. Employment 6.
regulations

5. EEEMR 6.

9. Sustainable supply 10.
chain

9. RIFFEMHERE 10.

13.  Customer satisfaction 14.

13. BFmWERE 14,

18 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

Annual Report 2023
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SENEERE

Climate change 3. Environmental and 4.,
natural resource
conservation

RIRE(L 3. BRBRERAERRKRE

E

Occupational health and 7. Employee development 8.

safety and training

BEERERE 7. EEBHERKEI 8.
Product liability 11.  Anti-Corruption 12.
EmEE . RES 12.
Cleaner production 15.  Supplier management  16.
BREE 15. HERERE 16.

High Materiality Matrix

= EEM5EkE

3 16)
o o°

5 (1)

o.

b 000

£ P

& 00

8

oik

il

®
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N 12)

(: =

&® HEBEBNEE S
Low Impact on Business High

Energy and resource
usage

BERIEIRE A
Labor standards

L TR
Community building
and development

AR MR

Compliance operations
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group acknowledges the critical influence of environmental
performance on its business operations, particularly in addressing
ongoing challenges related to reducing greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions, conserving energy, and managing waste. Consequently,
the Group has established an environmental management system
to proactively mitigate its environmental impact and promote
sustainable practices.

The environmental management system was established in
accordance with 1SO 14001:2015. Also, the Group have an
environmental data collection system to keep track of the
performance and monitor the efficiency of the measures adopted
in the past years.

A1:Emissions

The Group adheres to all applicable national and local laws,
regulations, and industry standards, including the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’'s Republic of China (PRC), the Law of
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution,
the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes, and the Law of the PRC
on Appraising Environmental Impacts.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with environmental-related laws and
regulations in relation to exhaust gas and greenhouse gases
("GHGs"), emissions, water and land discharge, and the generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have a
significant impact on the Group.

Apart from the above-mentioned compliances with the national
and local laws and regulations, the Group has put additional efforts
in regulating gas emissions, waste generation and usage of water
during the daily operation. The Group has established “Procedures
for Managing Wastewater, Exhaust Gas and Noise” which outlined
the daily procedures on reducing emissions on site.

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

BN
SERBIRERFEEEREENES
%% FR I EEDR R ER BB

EARE IR E IR EE RS A PREL -
llt'%@_SZT EBRIFEERER - U=E
FREEERRENEENRENRER
B o

REBDARIEISO 14001:2015 I IRIEE
BRR . B AEBEEE —FEREER
WERG - UBRHMER T ERERTFTE
FTERER 2 FEHE MR ©

1: B

AEBETHABRR LT HRERERK
MERRTTRIRE - fladhE AR AMBEIR
SREE) (PEARKXMBEARRFE
roaiE) (R E ARKME KISR0 8
EY (PEARKMBEERBREY SRR
PraE) R(hEARKMBERRZETE
D e

ERERR - KEREREERINEER
B8([GHG]) ~ HEAR ~ KM LB HUA KB
EMIEE FREEMAN R AR FEA
FRERNERERITA  ELBHRITR
BHEEELEATE -

ﬁ%TJ:LL?I%fDiﬂzﬁiffiifiﬁﬁl\ &
BEAERTEETENSR T HREHM B
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AEEEERERA
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ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)
A1:Emissions (Continued)
Air Emissions

Vehicular consumption of fuel and power generation relies on
diesel fuel are the major source of the Group’s air pollution. The
exhaust gas generated by the Group includes nitrogen oxides
("NOx"), sulphur oxides ("SOx") and particulate matters ("PM"). To
mitigate air emissions, the Group has well established practices in
place for improving air quality.

During the Reporting Period, the Group's exhaust gas emissions
performance was as below:

Direct Emissions Unit
b=t B
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg
RAAIEY) (NO) Niy
Sulphur Oxides (S0x) kg
AL (S0 Ny
Particulate Matter (PM) kg
FERLHE R (PM) NI

BRI

A1 BERR ()

mEEHEL
SEERMEEREDEEMEE I BRELH
K REBTERSEAMEZIRE - £F
EEXNEREEAE/LYW(INOX])  BE
b (Tsox ) FgER Y (TPM]) « B TR
RN SEEERYTRINEER
FEoOUNETEREE -

EREMA - KENERIEREROT :

FY2023 FY2022
2023 IV ARET D€
118.70 43.48

95.91 0.37

7.69 3.42

Due to the relief of novel coronavirus pandemic in FY 2023, travel
between Hong Kong and the PRC has resumed, leading to an
increase in the frequency of the company’s private car usage and
a rise in fuel consumption. Besides, due to more frequent internal
transportation within the factory and goods transportation, the use
of diesel for transportation have been increased, which resulted
in the group’s air emissions of NOx, SOx and PM have a significant
increase. The measures taken for reducing air emissions from
vehicles and electricity were described under the below section
headed "GHG emissions”.

GHG emissions

The major business for the Group is providing integrated plastic
solution services, manufacturing of e-cigarettes products as an
original equipment manufacturer ("OEM”) and manufacturing of
medical consumable products. The operation of injection molding
machines is identified as the major gas-emitting source in the
operation site.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)

A1:Emissions (Continued)

GHG emissions (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the GHG emissions performance is

summarised as below:

BRI
1 b
B EREE (GHG) BERL (#48)

IR

BER

B (GHG) Hrm B an

Indicators Unit FY2023 FY2022
BT Bz 2023 B E QUG
GHG Emissions’

RERBYER

Scope 1 Direct emissions tCO2e 549.03 157.49
HE BEERERBIR —atixEE

Scope 2 Energy indirect emissions tCOze 17,204.37 21,254.92
FHE 2 gEREEREREBYN —aftHnES

Scope 3 Other indirect emissions?® tCOze 390.00 109.75
#E 3 HafEREREYENR —SE(tiREE

Total GHG emissions tCOze 18,143.40 21,5622.16
mERBHREE —SikEE

Intensity? tCOze /million HKD revenue 25.99 18.81
mE? —qtinEg e mEs Tl

Note: Mz -

GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and are based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, "How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix Il: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs" issued by the HKEX, the latest released
emission factors of China's regional power grid basis issued by the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC and the "CLP 2022
Sustainability Report” published by CLP Holdings Ltd, the latest released
emission factors of EDF.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group's revenue was HKD 698 million (2022:
HKD 1,144 million). This data is also used for calculating the intensity of
other data.

Scope 3 GHG emissions comprises emissions from paper waste
disposed at landfills, air travel, energy used for processing fresh water
and sewage.

B = BB (GHO) B R IR A — |1
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ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)
A1:Emissions (Continued)
GHG emissions (Continued)

As a result of reduced electricity consumption, indirect energy
emissions in Scope 2 have decreased. However, due to the
increased use of fuels, such as diesel and petrol used in
transportation, Scope 1 GHG emission has increased accordingly.
Additionally, there has been an increase in paper usage, waste
disposal in landfills and air travel, leading to an increase in COze
emissions in Scope 3. The Group has set a target of reducing
carbon emissions. To achieve the target, we implemented various
environmental measures effectively to reduce GHG emission:

° Regularly check on the motor vehicles and production
facilities are conducted to ensure their energy efficiencies
and the exhaust emissions comply with the national
standard.

° Raise employee’'s awareness on energy saving, for instance,
employees are encouraged to turn off the unnecessary
electrical equipment (e.g. lighting and air conditioning) after
work, take public transportation and stop the car engine
while idling.

° The Group will choose the equipment with high energy
efficiency certification and power-saving modes.

° Gas emission data will be obtained quarterly to assess
the GHG emission level and monitor the progress of the
reduction target. If any irregularities are found, the ISO
department will investigate the reasons for the fluctuation
and suggest appropriate measures to relevant department.

° The Group will closely monitor the GHG emission level and
strive to alleviate the environment impact.

Waste Management

The Group has implemented a comprehensive waste management
system, encompassing both hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
The disposal practices for waste within the operational sites
strictly adhere to the relevant laws and regulations, including the
Law of the People's Republic of China (PRC) on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes, the
Measures for the Administration of Permits for the Operation of
Hazardous Wastes, and the National Hazardous Waste List. These
measures ensure compliance and responsible handling of waste
in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED) A: BEe
(I 3546 )

A1:Emissions (Continued)
Non-hazardous Waste

° Non-hazardous waste emitted from the Group included
domestic waste, construction waste, plastic waste, scrap
metal and office paper. Regarding non-hazardous waste,
the Group implements separate collection and management
procedures for recyclable items like toner cartridges
and batteries, which are handled by external recycling
partners. General waste is stored in designated refuse
areas and collected by the local environmental and hygiene
department. These measures ensure proper disposal and
minimise the risk of contamination to underground water
sources. The Group is committed to taking proactive steps
to prevent any potential harm to the environment and
safeguard the integrity of underground water resources.

Hazardous Waste

° Our hazardous waste included: Ink sludge, waste cigarette
oil, cutting oil, waste thinner, activated carbon, waste
packaging drums, rags and gloves. The Group has
implemented the "Procedures for Waste Management”,
which provides clear guidelines for employees on the proper
disposal of both hazardous and non-hazardous solid waste.
In the case of hazardous waste, all chemical waste is stored
appropriately in a designated indoor warehouse on-site,
equipped with secondary containment measures to prevent
any potential leakage. Any spills or contamination on the
ground are promptly addressed using specific materials
such as absorbent cloth or sawdust. Furthermore, all
hazardous waste is collected and handled by authorized
collectors, ensuring compliance with proper disposal
protocols and regulatory requirements.

SEEAMNECREEMBRERE
B EREEEY ﬁﬁf%%

BEeBMP AR HNEEEE
%'—%TEWMF%WWM%E
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O U BRI - Efth— &%%%JT
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I & °Eﬁﬁwﬁ%TLEMF

1 30 T KR AY 55 2 R B P
Amﬁ %@ﬁﬂm%mﬁﬁh
B IEEHRIBERBENEE

4% &1t TKEIRHOSTTENE -

BEERY

rEBNEEEEDBRE : 25
REIEh - TIEDR - BERER . RN
o EEEMR WKMANFE - HM
EL_LTH?%%JEIEEF“J ?a%
EEWNMAIFREEFENES

FEEY) - N EEREEY Fﬁﬁ@
EHERHEERTERENEA
FFEEP RIS E%EEW%% L‘Mﬁt
ﬁEﬂﬁFﬁﬁﬁ%E’]ﬁiﬂiE%iﬁ%%
Mo BEAN - FTBE R JE%%PJEE&
BHWEERENEIE  BRE

FHENEEHBEMEEZEK -

Indicators Unit FY2023 FY2022
Bl vl 20235 E IV GIES
Hazardous waste Tonnes 11.96 22.67
BEEEY i

Intensity? Tonnes/million HKD revenue 0.02 0.02
mE? W, B8 ATTE

Non-hazardous waste Tonnes 287.77 61.35*
EEREEY A

Intensity? Tonnes/million HKD revenue 0.41 0.05
mE? W, B 8T

Note: MfET -

*

The usage of paper has been concluded in Non-hazardous waste in 2022,
this number has been restated.

*
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A1:Emissions (Continued)
Hazardous Waste (Continued)

Throughout the year, as part of our commitment to sustainability
and environmental responsibility, we actively promote and practice
the recycling of plastic and paper materials. We have implemented
comprehensive recycling programs that encourage employees and
stakeholders to participate in the responsible disposal and reuse
of these resources, the performance is below:

Indicators Unit
bi=t =)

- Plastic Recycling Tonnes
—#RBmEk Mg

— Paper Recycling Tonnes
— #E R B Mg
Total Tonnes
HEt TR

BRI
A1 BERR ()
BEEZEY(4E)

EREFES  ERYUMBERRNIRER
BEENAGEN—F2 - HPEEEEMNE
BB MKMW AA - HFIEE
TEREOHLWKEE - SBEIMNFHESR
BEENRBIHANBELER  HRRN
T

FY2023 FY2022
2023 IEE IVIWENEGIES
88 339

49 74

137 413

The Group has established a waste reduction target, aiming
to demonstrates the Group's dedication to sustainability and
responsible waste management, as it strives to minimise its
environmental impact and promote a more sustainable future.

The Group implemented the following measures to reduce wastes:

° Encourage green office to minimise the use of printers to
reduce paper consumption.

. Recycling bins are placed in the office and the factories to
encourage staff to develop proper waste sorting habits.

° Monthly waste data at our factories will be obtained to keep
track of our waste reduction and recycling performance and
oversee the progress of the reduction target.

. If any irregularities are found, the ISO department will
investigate the reasons for the fluctuation and suggest
appropriate measures to relevant department. Meanwhile,
the I1SO department will report the issues to the Board
immediately.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A1:Emissions (Continued)
Wastewater Discharge

In line with our commitment to environmental responsibility, the
Group strictly adheres to the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Water Pollution, the Urban Sewage Treatment
Plant Pollutant Discharge Standard, and other relevant laws and
regulations. These measures ensure that our operations comply
with the necessary environmental standards and regulations
related to water management.

The Group has implemented stringent regulations for the
management of water discharge during operations. All sewage
is directed to the government sewage pipeline and subsequently
transferred to the local sewage treatment plant, ensuring
compliance with proper wastewater treatment procedures.
Additionally, the Group conducts annual monitoring of wastewater
quality to ensure compliance with relevant standards and
regulations. These measures affirm the Group’'s commitment to
responsible water management and sustainable practices.

A2: Use of Resources

To mitigate the environmental risks associated with our business
operations, the Group actively promotes resource efficiency
through the implementation of “Procedures for reducing resource
and energy usage.” We prioritise the engagement of professional
and certified electricians to maintain the on-site electricity system,
ensuring its optimal functionality. Monthly records are maintained
to monitor electricity consumption.

Furthermore, we encourage our employees to actively participate
in resource conservation efforts. We emphasize the importance
of reducing resource usage and provide guidance on practical
ways to achieve this goal. By fostering a culture of resource
consciousness, we aim to collectively contribute to the reduction
of resource consumption within our organisation.

Energy

Energy consumption is the primary driver of GHG emissions
from the Group, we take a proactive approach to identify and
implement strategies for systematic energy management and
optimisation. Among our operations, electricity, gasoline, and
natural gas are the primary sources of energy consumption within
our premises and office. To mitigate our environmental impact
and reduce our energy footprint, we prioritise close monitoring
of energy usage across our facilities. This enables us to identify
areas of inefficiency and implement measures to minimise energy
consumption. By leveraging advanced monitoring systems and
energy-efficient technologies, we strive to continuously optimise
our energy usage and reduce our carbon emissions.

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS
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ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)
A2: Use of Resources (Continued)
Energy (Continued)

Additionally, we actively seek opportunities to enhance energy
efficiency through initiatives such as upgrading equipment,
improving insulation, and implementing energy-saving practices.
We also promote employee awareness and engagement by
providing training on energy conservation and encouraging
behavioral changes that contribute to energy efficiency.

Through these efforts, we aim to not only reduce our
environmental impact but also achieve long-term cost savings.
By optimising energy usage and minimising GHG emissions, we
are committed to promoting sustainability and contributing to a
greener future.

During the Reporting Period, energy consumption by the Group
was as follows:

Indicators Unit
Bt B
Total Direct energy consumption MWh
BERER KL
— Diesel oil MWh
— 58 JFR
- Petrol MWh
— A JKFLEF
- LPG MWh
—RILAHR KBS
- Natural gas MWh
— RAR JE R I
Total indirect energy consumption MWh
IR B JKFLEF
— Purchased electricity MWh
—SMNEE S KL
Total Energy consumption MWh
R EREE IR LB
- Intensity? MWh/million HKD revenue

—BERBRETE KEE, BT

BRIE
A2 - BRER @
BEB ()

AN - BAEBRS BB RRE - E
RANMEBEGEEREEERIERSERY
T o HVEBBIRHET BT TS Bk &
BRETARRESEIHMENERNSHE

BNFE  EEEREHOKALL -

EHRERA - KENEREFRERNT

FY2023 FY2022
2023 U ARET D€
828.72 703.36*

98.14 N/A

TiE A

396.66 238.67

34.56 112.36*

299.36 352.33
30,177.08 34,164.75
30,177.08 34,164.75
31,005.80 34,868.11*
44.42 30.48

Note:

*

The data has been restated due to an updated calculation model.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)
A2: Use of Resources (Continued)
Water Resources

In order to minimise water usage in our manufacturing process,
the Group places a strong emphasis on employing waterless
techniques, such as injection molding, which reduces the need
for water as a primary component. Nonetheless, we remain
dedicated to implementing measures that effectively reduce water
consumption in both operational and domestic aspects of our
operations. The Group has no issue in sourcing suitable water.

The Group has implemented various strategies to achieve this
target, particularly focusing on our cooling water system. This
system incorporates recycling and reuse mechanisms, allowing
us to minimise water consumption by maximising the utilisation of
available water resources. Additionally, our cooling water system
undergoes daily monitoring to promptly detect and address any
potential leaks or inefficiencies, ensuring optimal water usage.

Through these initiatives, we aim to not only reduce our
environmental impact but also contribute to the conservation of
water resources. By actively managing and optimising our water
consumption, we strive to operate in a more sustainable and
responsible manner.

Indicators Unit

it v

Water Consumption m?

KETRHRE K

- Intensity? m?3/million HKD revenue

—HREmE? MK/ BB E

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

BRIE
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BTERMOEEBER R RRRE R
IKEVER - EEIER EREA BRI -
RAAAEE B A T8 EEMEKE
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e RATRE A AR A EKEIR - e
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BBELRE  HMANBRNMERRLY
RENTE  ERFREKERBHER -
BPEeRBEEMBECHRKE  AE A
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FY2023 FY2022
2023 IV ARET D€
157,686.20 161,244.00
225.91 140.95

AREEERERAR
2023F F 3]

27

N



_

[ ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

28

N

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)
A2: Use of Resources (Continued)
Packing Materials

The primary packaging material utilised by the Group is paper
carton boxes. As part of our commitment to environmental
sustainability, we are dedicated to sourcing and using eco-friendly
raw materials to minimise our impact on nature. In the future,
we will actively seek out and adopt packaging materials that
are sustainable, renewable, and have a reduced environmental
footprint. By prioritising the use of environmentally friendly
materials, we aim to contribute to the preservation of the natural
environment and promote a more sustainable future.

Indicators Unit
b=t v

— Paper Carton Box Tonnes
—#E A

- Plastic Tonnes
— BB Mg
Total Tonnes
HEt ]

BRI
A2 BRER &
EEIH

SEI2EMNREMZEME - (ERK
IS RBAIRE LR — & D - TP
REBAERRROREME - HARRERD
HEARBNFZE - HRE  RAKES
SERNMERAAFE THEEHRRFE
B BREMH - BBEEERRRY
B BB ERFRESARRTMEEEN
A FFER AR BB -

FY2023 FY2022
2023 IV ARET D€
1,048 1,753

160.46 316.04
1,208.46 2,069.04

A3: The Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group's policy promotes the adoption of innovative
environmental practices to minimise our impact on the
environment and natural resources. We are dedicated to
implementing a range of initiatives to reduce the negative
environmental effects of our daily operations. We continuously
enhance our environmental awareness and foster a sense of
responsibility both at work and personal lives. Furthermore, we
integrate the principles of environmental and natural resource
protection into our internal management and operational activities,
striving towards sustainable development goals.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A4: Combating Climate Change

The Group is aware of the threat posed by climate change and
actively contributes to offset its carbon footprint. The Group
recognises the importance of identifying and responding to major
climate issues, so it closely monitors the potential impact of
climate change on its business and operations and is committed
to managing potential climate risks that may affect the Group's

business activities.

According to the reporting framework developed by the Task Force
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures ("TCFD"), there are two
types of climate-related risks, namely physical risks and transition
risks, and the Group has thoroughly evaluated the associated risks

and their impact on the Group's business.

Physical Risks
BEREER

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

A BEe
A4 E¥RIREL
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REREHEHBYHEERAKE T(FA
([TCFD D) HIFEMMEMELR - RIRAAR R
DWmIE - EERRRMERRR - A&
EE2mEFARERR R ESAEERS
MR -

Transition Risks

BE R

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather
events such as typhoons, storms, heavy rains, and
extreme cold or heat pose acute and chronic physical
risks to the Group's business. The Group's capacity and
productivity will be reduced under extreme weather
events as the safety of our employees is threatened, and
the operational sites might be damaged, which leads to a
direct negative impact on the Group's revenue.

We have established mitigation plans to minimise potential
risks and hazards, including flexible work arrangements
and precautionary measures during bad weather
conditions such as typhoons, floods and black rainstorms.
The Group will improve emergency plans to reduce the
vulnerability of its business to extreme weather events.

Bl - AR BEREAERHRELIERSHIHRREMHH
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To achieve the global vision of carbon neutrality, the Group
expects the evolution of the regulatory, technological
and market landscape due to climate change, including
the tightening of national policies, the emergence of
environmentally related taxes and the shifting of customer
preference to an eco-friendlier operation.

In response to transition risks, we constantly monitor
the updates of environmental regulations and global
trends on climate change to avoid cost increments, non-
compliance fines or reputational risks due to the violation
of laws. In addition, we have been taking comprehensive
environmental protection measures, including energy
saving, water conserving and GHG emissions reduction.
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SOCIAL
B1: Employment

We place great importance on the growth and well-being of
our employees. To create an appealing work environment and
attract the best talents, we offer competitive compensation and
benefits packages, along with clear career development paths. By
providing these advantages, we aim to build a workplace that is
both rewarding and fulfilling, encouraging employees to excel and
remain with the Group in the long term.

Our commitment to employee development and welfare reflects
our belief in the value of human capital as a key driver of success.
Through continuous learning and support, we empower our
employees to reach their full potential and contribute to the
ongoing growth and prosperity of the Group.

To ensure the Group's performance continuity and minimise
turnover, we actively conduct exit interviews with employees who
have resigned. These interviews allow us to gain insights into
the reasons behind their departure and address any concerns or
issues that may exist among current employees. By understanding
the factors contributing to resignations, we can take appropriate
measures to improve employee satisfaction and retention.

Furthermore, we have implemented a management system to
promote a fair working environment and employment practices.
This system includes a comprehensive evaluation process
for salary reviews and promotions. It assesses employees’
performance, capabilities, and contributions to the company. By
objectively evaluating these factors, we strive to make informed
decisions that reward and recognise employees based on their
merits and achievements.

Throughout the year 2023, the Group maintained a strong
commitment to compliance with all relevant laws and regulations
pertaining to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, as well as other benefits and
welfare. As a result, there were no instances of non-compliance
that could have had a significant impact on the Group's operations.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED) B: &)

B1: Employment (Continued) B1: B

As of 31 December 2023, the Group's breakdown of employee HZE2023F12A318 EEE TR
profile was as below: N
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FY2023 FY2022

2023 E IV GIES
Total number of employees ETHAY 936 1,081
By Gender BRI S8
Male S 544 619
Female M 392 462
By Age RERDE
30 or below 30mEAT 147 188
31-50 31 -5073% 680 804
51 or above 51 A £ 109 89
By Geographic Area BB EE D E
Mainland China Hp B K P 920 1,061
Hong Kong B 16 20
By Employment Type ZEBERSE
Management EEE 127 141
Other staff HMTIEAR 809 940
The table below shows the employee turnover rate categorised by TRET TR - FiMEMMIEE 5

gender, age group and geographical region:

Average monthly employee

turnover rate (%)

BB IRAX

FY2023

FY2022

2023 BIBUEE VRN Gy
Overall BITHE 5.3% 5.8%
By Gender MRS E
Male B4 5.1% 5.1%
Female 7 5.6% 6.6%
By Age RERDE
30 or below 305 A~ 11.2% 15.5%
31-50 31-50 5% 4.6% 3.9%
51 or above 51 BREA £ 1.6% 1.7%
By Geographic Area RiIEEE S E
Mainland China )iy 73 5.3% 5.9%
Hong Kong B 2.6% 0.4%
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B2: Health and Safety

The employees’ health and safety are one of the Group's top

priority items, therefore, the Group implements "Management

Procedures on Health and Safety” to eliminate all potential safety
hazards and ensure a safe working environment to protect
employees from occupational injuries.

The management procedures cover all manufacturing operations

in the factories and highlight the safety requirements for the

suppliers.

The safety committee
conducts risk assessment
of the factories and identify
all potential health and
safety hazards.

SETAEBTIES T

HIEHE -

The representatives of the
committee establish a health

and safety
training
employees.

educational and
program to all

g€ )
B2 : REHEZ S

ETHRFEZ2EEENEHEEELKZ
— At fEERT(REEZ2EE
BFE) WEGRMBBEENRZZRE X
HRZE2HIIERE  REEILXBE

BE -

ZEREFRRET IRAME R RER
tF - Wi T HHERNLEEK -

If there is any malfunctioning of
machineries, workers have to
report to their supervisors. All
passages along the working
area are strictly prohibited for
storage and workers are not
allowed to leave the machines
running while away.

All  supervisors from different If there are any operating

departments are responsible for
monitoring the workers to prevent
accidents and providing training
on the proper operating
procedures to workers.

and

procedures that may endanger
the workers' safety, supervisors
shall immediately report to their
seniors
remediation process to reduce

carry out

all potential hazards.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B2: Health and Safety (Continued)

Apart from our internal management procedures, the Group also
complies with relevant local laws and regulations, including Cap.
509 Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong,
the Labour Law of the PRC, the Fire Control Law of the PRC, the
Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases and the Measures for the Ascertainment of Work-related
Injuries. To prevent the outbreak of fire within the operation areas,
the security guards have to patrol the building site daily, such as
dormitory, factories, garages, lavatories and kitchen. They will also
ensure all equipped fire extinguishers are functioning properly.
The human resources department will guide the fire safety
committee to carry out one to two fire drill practices annually.

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS
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BRTANEREFI - REETTERE
TEMMEBEERER  BEEEENE
S09ECRE T 2 RIEFREA ) (FEA
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HEREAPIEHEERLEEEE ST FiE
T—EIMKHEES -

Health & Safety Indicators Unit FY2023 FY2022 FY2021
RERZZER B PR ES ol 2022 TR 2021 AR
Work-related fatalities Casel(s) 0 0 0
FSE A ESTICED)

Fatality rate % 0 0 0
T %

Lost days due to work injury Days 230.5 41.8 161.8
HIEBERTHER X

B3: Training and Development

The Group has established the "Management Procedures on
Development and Training” to govern in-house training and
work distribution. These procedures outline the requirements
and performance indicators aimed at enhancing employees’
occupational skills and overall quality. Additionally, the Group has
strengthened its development and training systems to ensure the
smooth and continuous implementation of all training programs.

The human resources department plays a key role in providing
instructions for job duties in each position and formulating an
annual training development plan. This plan serves as a roadmap
for identifying the training needs of employees and designing
appropriate training initiatives to address those needs. The Group
believes the vocational training practices will allow us to nurture a
better, sustainable working environment and learning atmosphere
to the employees.

B3 : 1ZFIERER
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B: SOCIAL (CONTINUED) B: &)
B3: Training and Development (Continued) B3 : IR )
To the new employees
RABER
. Comprehensive pre-job trainings and orientation programmes are provided to the new employees to introduce the company's

background, culture, regulations and safety requirements.
. REFETREZEM ARSI E TERFE  NTRARRANER e REFENLZEZEK -
. New employees are also subject to on-job trainings offered by their reporting departments.

. MER B ERZAEALREOERE -

To newly promoted employees

REEANET

. The Group invites external institutions to organise training courses to the employees regularly.

. SET BN BEERE TABIEIIRIZ -

. Human resources department will revise the annual training programmes in accordance with the reviews and feedbacks of each
department.

. ANEREBPIERIBE S HPINFRINE RETFE BT -

REFHETE , BRRHHAR.

Conducting occupational injury prevention training.

EATTAR TEE -
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B3: Training and Development (Continued)
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B: &
B3 : #EZHIEEEE R (&)

Conducting anti-fraud training.

O
\ %4

PR R FFERIE I o

Conducting occupational safety training.

FRBEZ 2 -

O
\ %4
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B: SOCIAL (CONTINUED) B: &
B3: Training and Development (Continued) B3 : IR ()

Conducting medical emergency knowledge training.

ETBRSRAEEI -

O

Conducting comprehensive fire drill.

BB ARG HFGEAR -

O
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B3: Training and Development (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the Group provided trainings to 7,369
participants. Total training hours were 16,699 hours (2022: 9,318
hours). Average training hours per employees were 17.82 hours
(2022: 8.62 hours).

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

- JE))

B3 : EIIEERE ()
MEHMA - NREBEFIEE 7369 A
R o BRI A 16,699 /NEE (2022 4F -
9,318/\F¥) o FIEH B TSI A
17.82 /N85 (2022 % : 8.62/)\FF) ©

FY2023 FY2022
2023 Y RFE 2022 AR
Average Average
Percentage Training Hours Percentage  Training Hours
of Employee per Employee of Employee per Employee
Categories k=] Trained (%) (hours) Trained (%) (hours)
gl BUEIFY I BLZEITH
BT HHI(%) 3HRFR (/M) BTG (%) HFaIRRE (NS
By Gender BRI D8
Male S 51% 16.5 55% 7.2
Female g 49% 19.7 45% 105
By Employment Type BREREHNSE
Other staff HiTIEAR 88% 19.1 91% 8.6
Top management EEE 12% 9.9 9% 8.9

B4: Labour Standards
Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour

The Group is fully committed to upholding labor-related laws and
regulations and has established the "Management Procedures on
the Prohibition of Child Labor” to ensure compliance. In accordance
with these procedures, the Human Resources Department strictly
prohibits the hiring of child labor, which refers to individuals under
the age of 16.

During the recruitment process, the Group conducts identification
checks, particularly for junior workers aged between 16 and 17,
to ensure their eligibility for employment. If any instance of child
labor is identified, employees are instructed to report it directly
to the Human Resources Department and senior management
for immediate verification. The Group takes immediate action to
address the situation and promptly reports it to the local Labor
Department.

B4 : BITEXE
B ifZ T FliEiH 25 E)

SEBJETYE THBERER - WHlE
TIRIERETFMIURRER  BE
BERRF - ANBRBPERER 16U T
MET -

EREBEREY  SEETHNZE - 53
EH16E1TEHNYIHEE T - AR MM
EEREER - MBEBAMETBR
BIAUEEZEMANERTINSHKERRE
s A BEITIZE - EEE I BIERE
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SOCIAL (CcoNTINUED)
B4: Labour Standards (Continued)
Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour (Continued)

The working hours of the employees are set as 8 hours per day
and five working days per week. Upon the approval from the
human resources department, the employees can be arranged
to work overtime with a maximum of 3 hours per day and shall
not exceed a total working hour of 60 hours per week. The Group
also states the off-work periods of the employees and provides
them paid leaves as remuneration benefits and welfare. Trainings
are also provided to all employees, details please refer to the
“Development and Training” section above.

The Group is deeply committed to protecting human rights,
prohibiting forced labor, and fostering a workplace characterised
by respect and fairness for all employees. During the Reporting
Period, we have not been made aware of any instances of non-
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations regarding the
prevention of child labor or forced labor.

We strictly abide by all labour-related laws and regulations of
Hong Kong and the PRC, including Cap. 57 Employment Ordinance,
Cap. 485 Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, Cap. 509
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance, Cap. 608 Minimum
Wage Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC, the
Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labor and the Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Minors.

Inclusion and Diversity

In order to promote diversity in our workplace, the Group's
“Management Procedures on Anti-Discrimination” endorsed by the
human resources department provides a clear structure on a fair
employment practice during recruitment. The policy clearly states
that any discrimination on race, gender, religion, national origin,
physical or mental disability, age, sexual orientation and gender
identity are strictly prohibited during the employment process. The
procedure also clearly sets out the standard operation procedures
when discrimination practices are detected in workplace.
Trainings are provided to eliminate any discrimination practices
among employees. If any discrimination or harassment reports are
received, the Group will establish a working group to investigate
into the incident. The Group is honored to receive the SA8000:2014
Social Accountability Certification that recognises our socially
acceptable practices in the workplace. The Group tries their best
to provide a better working environment to the employees.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B4: Labour Standards (Continued)
Holistic Wellbeing

The scope of the Group's management approach to occupational
health and safety is expanding to incorporate broader aspects
of wellbeing. Besides providing free housing and meal to the
employees in Huizhou, the group also adopts a wholesome
perspective of employees’ social, emotional and mental health.
On this front, the Group has organised company events and
recreational activities for employees and their families.

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

&)
B4 : BT REE ()
S EREFIEH

SEHRRBERERENEIERTEHRER
EEREZHNBTIREM KT REMETER
HEBEFMERS  KEEZEAIR
TEMR - BRRMOIBEE - FEEHH -
SERETINERAABT ARVEBNR
e OEEIR

Organising the 3rd Annual Basketball Friendship Tournament for all employees.

EMF-ETRETERLEE -

O
A\ %4
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B: SOCIAL (CONTINUED) B: i®
B4: Labour Standards (Continued) B4 @ BT EX(4)
Holistic Wellbeing (Continued) PEEFEA ()

Organising a 2023 New Year celebration event for employees.

RETER2023FHFEERED -

O

Organising a “Trash Run” activity for all employees.

ABERETETRIES -

O
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B5: Supply Chain Management

Building enduring collaborative partnerships with diverse suppliers
is fundamental to our achievements. Through close cooperation
with our suppliers, we actively monitor the quality of their goods
and services, as well as their overall performance, thereby
ensuring the reliability of our supply chain. We strive to foster
a supply chain that aligns with our shared vision of sustainable
development. By establishing these long-term relationships, we
enhance our ability to deliver exceptional products and services
while promoting responsible business practices throughout our
supply chain.

Group policies have clearly outlined the procurement standards
and procedures, as well as the assessment of supplier
performance. Suppliers should conduct business ethically, and
refrain from providing or accepting bribes and other improper
benefits. At the tendering stage, suppliers are selected and rated
based on a set of criteria, including product price and quality,
delivery time, and payment terms. A background check (including
permits, licenses, and certificates of suppliers) is conducted
to ensure compliance with all relevant laws and regulations.
If non-conformities are identified, suppliers must rectify them
immediately. Supplier performance will be evaluated based on
the marking scheme outlined in the Management Procedures on
Supply Chain, those who violates laws and regulations, fails to
meet tender requirements, or commits misconduct, may have
their contract terminated or penalised.

Green Procurement

The Group adopts the sustainable and responsible selection
criteria to promote environmentally preferrable products. The
procedure grades all suppliers by relevant rating systems:
outstanding suppliers are rating from 90 to 100 and suppliers
with rating from 65 to 89 are classified as pass, while the rest
are considered failed, during the year, 32 suppliers passed our
assessment through on-site audit. The purchasing department
is responsible for managing all production and nonproduction
services suppliers. The ISO department is responsible for the
assessment of suppliers. Apart from these, the Group will visit the
suppliers regularly to ensure that the suppliers comply with the
environment, health, and safety standards.
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SOCIAL (CcoNTINUED)
B5: Supply Chain Management (Continued)
Green Procurement (Continued)

During the engagement process, the Group will assess all potential
suppliers based on their certification of management systems,
company profile, manufacturing procedures, status of production
and inspection equipment, environmental control and the
applicable operation or production license of certain hazardous
chemicals. Besides, the Group will select the suppliers who
have attained the certification of 1S09001:2015 or other related
documents. All samples and products have undergone applicable
quality test on-site. Inspection is carried out bi-annually for
suppliers rated as outstanding; while annual inspection is carried
out for suppliers rated as pass.

The table below shows our number of suppliers by geographical
region during the Year:

Location of Suppliers

Mainland China ESEipN
Hong Kong B
Others i

&)
B5 : HESEERE &)
AREIRAE ()

EZEBRET  AEEBBEBEEHERR
& NFIEN - BERE  EEMNRRR
ik RBESMERCEREEST
BECEYRNFT A EERERTEME
BIEHER - N AEESRBCES
1S09001:2015 FR7E sk H Ab A5 B S (F Ay pE
B AEESHMEERMERETRS
mE R - R AEFHMHER -
MEHET—IXBE - MERETEAEEEN
HER - BIBFETNRE -

TRER T AFRERMZMIEERRDEN
HERHA :

No. of major

Suppliers
TEHEFHRE

353
21
11

Bé: Product Responsibility
Quality Assurance

The Group places great importance on adhering to national laws
and regulations concerning product safety. We are committed to
providing products of the highest quality, and to achieve this, we
conduct regular inspections and checks to ensure compliance.

In addition, we prioritise responsible advertising and labeling
practices to minimise any potential customer dissatisfaction.
We believe in transparent and accurate information exchange,
ensuring that our customers have the necessary details to make
informed decisions about our products. To further enhance
product quality and safety, we have implemented the “Procedures
on Information Exchange.” This procedure designates the
Operations Department as responsible for overseeing product
quality and safety, ensuring that rigorous standards are followed
throughout the production and distribution processes.

By following these measures, we aim to instill trust and confidence
in our customers by consistently delivering products that meet or
exceed their expectations in terms of quality, safety, and reliability.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
Bé6: Product Responsibility (Continued)
Protect data privacy

To protect consumer data privacy and other confidential
documents, the Group strictly follows Cap. 528 Copyright
Ordinance, Cap. 486 Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong
Kong, the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Customer Rights and
Interests and has established clear instructions on how to prevent
leakage of confidential documents and effective management
of documents. The "Management of Confidential Documents”
classifies all documents into three broad categories: A, B or C
grade, based on the extent of sensitivity of the documents. The I1SO
department is responsible for the classification, management and
distribution of documents. During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not have any personal data breach or leakage case.

Intellectual Properties Rights

The Group acknowledges the importance of intellectual
property rights. The Group will not plagiarise the design of
other organisations. The employees are required to maintain
confidentially of the Group’'s technology and trade secrets,
considering all such properties belong to assets of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
complaints or non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
in to the intellectual property right.

Complaints Handling Procedures

The Group recognises the significance of customer feedback
and values the opinions of our customers. To better understand
their needs and exceed their expectations, we have established
various communication channels to collect their feedback. These
channels include telephone, email, and regular interactions with
customers. The responsibility of handling customer feedback and
complaints lies with our dedicated quality control department.
They are equipped to address and resolve any concerns raised by
customers, ensuring that their feedback is taken seriously, and
appropriate actions are taken.

The Group is committed to improve customer satisfaction and
maintain a long-term relationship with them. When there is any
dissatisfying product quality found, the quality control department
will carry out follow up action on a timely basis. Proper measures
will also be adopted to prevent the issue from happening again.
During the Reporting Period, there was no material claim
or complaint brought against the Group by our customers.
Meanwhile, the Group had not experienced any material litigation,
return on sales, recalls, or repairs from our customers during the
Reporting Period.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B7: Anti-Corruption

The Group embraces responsible business practices, and we
expect high moral standards and integrity from the employees
and business partners. The Group strictly complies with relevant
laws and regulations, including Cap. 201 Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance, Cap. 615 Anti-Money Laundering and Counter- Terrorist
Financing Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Criminal Law of the PRC
and its Judicial interpretation, the Criminal Procedure Law and
its Judicial interpretation, the Interpretation on Several Issues
Concerning the Applicable Laws to Handling Criminal Cases of
Embezzlement and Bribery, and the Anti-Money Laundering Law
of the PRC. In addition, the Group's "Management Procedures on
Anti-Bribery” applies to all entities among the Group to regulate all
business activities.

Anti-corruption Training

The Group places a strong emphasis on responsible and ethical
conduct from its employees. We strive to prevent any actions that
could jeopardise the Group's interests and reputation, we regularly
remind our employees to comply with the code of practices. To
foster a culture of integrity and combat corruption, we provide
anti-corruption training 13 times a year to both directors and
employees, totaling 118 hours in total. This training aims to raise
awareness about ethical practices and equip individuals with the
knowledge and skills to identify and prevent corrupt activities.

By promoting a strong ethical framework and providing necessary
training, the Group actively encourages employees to uphold the
highest standards of professionalism, honesty, and integrity. These
efforts safeguard the Group's interests, reputation, and long-term
success.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B7: Anti-Corruption (Continued)
Whistleblowing Policy

Any forms of bribery, extortion, fraud, money-laundering and
embezzlement are strictly forbidden, employees are allowed to
report on any suspicious misbehavior of unethical businesses to
the senior management directly. The Group has implemented its
whistleblowing policy, which shall be reviewed periodically by the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and approved by the
Board, with proper mechanisms in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters, as well as for appropriate follow-
up action. All whistle-blowing procedures are conducted in a
confidential manner and the Group will ensure all measures are
undertaken to protect the privacy and identity of the whistle-
blower. The Group accepts zero tolerance to any dishonesty and
unethical business behaviors. If any violation is found, the Group
will report to the government authorities in accordance with the
law and the involved employee will be penalised immediately.

During the Reporting Period, there were no concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees.

B8: Community Involvement

The Group firmly believes in the interdependence of corporations
and communities. As such, we are dedicated to supporting
community development through various forms of social
participation. We actively strive to foster a positive corporate
culture by establishing a voluntary team that coordinates
community services focused on social and environmental
protection.
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RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

B: SOCIAL (CONTINUED) B: &)
B8: Community Involvement (Continued) B8 : #tES (1)
During the Reporting Period, the Group made donations totaling FEREHA - SERSERSABBRL
approximately HK$ 540,000 to various charitable organisations. 5T 49540,00087C © B - o ZBEH
Some of the specific organisations that received these donations ERABIE

include:

Special donation to the “Education Assistance and Teaching Support”

Date: September 11, 2023

BE:11/9/2023

Date: December 18, 2023

BE}:18/12/2023

L6 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

‘ Annual Report 2023

program of Zhongkai High-tech Zone Charity Federation.

RIEEHELERS BBBH IEREN
Organisation: Zhongkai High-tech Zone Charity Federation
Location: Zhongkai High-tech Zone Huizhou No.1 Middle School Dongjiang Campus
Content: Special donation for educational assistance and teaching support.
Donation: RMB 100,000
B hEsSTRERSES
ik : PSS HREMN R RIER
RE  BIEPHFIABRE
B AK% 1000007

Gansu Jishishan County Earthquake Relief

HHEA LB AR
Organisation: Gansu Red Cross Society
Location: Gansu Red Cross Society
Content: Donation for Earthquake Relief in Jishishan County, Gansu Province.
Donation: RMB 100,000
WiE HesaltFe
ik HREALTFe
AR HREAO LSRRG

5 . AR 100,0007T



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

SOCIAL (CONTINUED) B: &)

B8: Community Involvement (Continued) B8 : #tES (1)

In addition, our participation in charity events has garnered us o - B2 HEESEESHES T HEE
numerous rewards and recognition: IR

Donation Certificate Date: April 1, 2023

Issuing Organisation: Red Cross Society of Anlong County, Qiannan Prefecture,
Guizhou Province

Content: 100,000 Medical Masks Donated

BEEE B : 2023-04-01

HBEE  EMNEPERTREATT

il2)3

AR 108EEAOS

“Top 10 Charity Stars - Acts Date: December 25, 2023
of Kindness and Good
Deeds” Trophy Issuing Organisation: Huizhou Zhongkai High-tech Zone Charity Federation

Content: Awarded the “Top 10 Charity Stars” honor in 2023 and received a
trophy.

[TERECEELETIRE HH : 2023-12-25
HEEE SN TRESES

AR D 2023FERE T HERZ 2 E |RERR I ERE

By actively engaging with local communities, the Group can build MBEHRSHEEMME - SEEMAEVR
trust, enhance our reputation, and foster long-term sustainability. fEENERE  BARAsEEE - WEE
Community involvement in ESG initiatives contributes to the REATFERE - LRI - 1HgRERE
broader goal of creating a positive and inclusive society while FEP L RIESE N EIRAEE R
aligning with the values and expectations of all stakeholders of PEANMENERZBE  RRFEEER
the Group. In the future, the Group will continue to devote more FTEF=MEEENEBEE M ERE—
resources to contribute the community. BoERR  AEEHEBENELER
Bl E o
REEEERARAT | 47
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Tsan Lam, aged 63, is the founder of the Group. Mr. Chan is an
executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
He is primarily responsible for formulating corporate strategies,
overseeing the overall management of business and operation of the
Group. Mr. Chan is also a director of all of the Company's subsidiaries.
Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in marketing, strategic
planning and business management in the manufacturing industry.
From 1991 until Mr. Chan founded Sun Leader Mould Industrial Limited
("Sun Leader HK") in September 2000, Mr. Chan worked as a sole
proprietor specializing in mould design and manufacturing. Mr. Chan is
the father of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an executive Director of the Company, and
Mr. Chan Tsz Wai, a senior management member of the Company. He
is one of the controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Chan is also
the director of the holding company of the Company, namely, Oceanic
Green Group Limited ("Oceanic Green"), New Strength Ventures Limited
("New Strength”), Gold Alliance Ventures Limited ("Gold Alliance”) and
Treasure Line Holdings Limited ("Treasure Line").

Ms. POON Po Han Lisa, aged 61, is an executive Director, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Group. Ms. Poon is primarily
responsible for financial planning and management and overseeing
the accounting department of the Group. Ms. Poon has over 20 years of
experience in financial management, accounting and taxation working
in professional and commercial accounting sectors. Ms. Poon holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in accounting from The University of Hull
in the United Kingdom, and a Master's degree in Corporate Governance
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong. Ms. Poon is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and an
associate of The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Poon joined the
Group in May 2008 and was appointed as Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary in April 2017 and executive Director in May 2019.

Ms. CHAN Yin Yan, aged 34, is an executive Director and the Chief
Operating Officer. Ms. Chan is primarily responsible for overseeing
the overall management of business and operation of the Group and
responsible for the marketing of the Group. Ms. Chan joined the Group in
June 2013 and has been responsible for managing part of the business
and developing the Group's customer base and is the key personnel in
developing the Group's e-cigarette business. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor's
degree in Commerce from Curtin University of Technology in Australia.
Ms. Chan is the daughter of Mr. Chan, an executive Director, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the elder sister of Mr.
Chan Tsz Wai, a senior management member of the Company.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NG Chi Wai, aged 45, is an independent non-executive Director. He
has over 20 years of experience in auditing, accounting and corporate
management. He has worked at the audit department of two international
accounting firms and he has held senior management positions in
different listed companies. He is currently a practicing director of CN CPA
Limited. Mr. Ng holds a bachelor of art degree in accounting and finance
from Leeds Metropolitan University, the United Kingdom. He is a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Ng has joined our Group since May 2019.

Mr. HUNG Chun Leung, aged 57, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Hung joined Messrs. Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors as a
consultant solicitor in July 1997 and has become a partner of Messrs.
Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors since February 2016. Mr. Hung has
over 28 years of experience in handling legal matters in the areas of
conveyancing, mortgage finance transactions, commercial contracts,
acquisition of shares, matrimonial cases, civil litigation and estate
agents disciplinary inquiry hearings. Mr. Hung has joined our Group
since February 2018. Mr. Hung obtained his bachelor of laws degree
with honours and Postgraduate Certificate in Law from The University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Hung was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme
Court of Hong Kong in October 1993 and has been a member of the Law
Society of Hong Kong since then.

Mr. CHAN Bing Kai, aged 77, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan has over 50 years of experience in the industry of
manufacturing electronic products. Mr. Chan is the co-founder of a
company that designs and manufactures a comprehensive line of audio
and LED products, including CD, DVD, iPod docking or accessories and
other high-fidelity multimedia for LED OEM customers. Mr. Chan has
joined our Group since February 2018.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YUEH Yung Chan, aged 51, is the vice general manager of the
Group's engineering department and he is primarily responsible for
overseeing the operation of the Group's production plant. Prior to joining
the Group in February 2015, Mr. Yueh has over 20 years of experience
in project engineering. Mr. Yueh obtained his Bachelor of Engineering
degree in manufacturing engineering, Postgraduate Diploma in
Mechanical Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and Master of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. CHAN Tsz Wai, aged 29, joined the Group in October 2016, is the
vice president of marketing. Mr. Chan is primarily responsible for the
development and marketing of new products of the Group. Mr. Chan
obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in Business & Management from
The University of Lincoln in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chan is the son of
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, an executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and the younger brother of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an
executive Director of the Company.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIRKRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MEASURES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Board has adopted the principles
and the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG
Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) to ensure that
the Company's business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and code
provisions of the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules
(as in effect from time to time) as the basis of the Company's corporate
governance practices, which will be further illustrated in this corporate
governance report for shareholders’ evaluation. The Company has
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, save
and except for the code provision C.2.1. Details of the deviation from the
code provision C.2.1 are explained in the section “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” of this corporate governance report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules (the "Model Code”) as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the
securities of the Company by the Directors and the Company's senior
management who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to
possess inside information in relation to the Company's securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the Year. In addition, the Company is
not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by the senior
management of the Company during the Year.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises of 6 members, consisting of 3 executive
Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2023
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THE BOARD (cONTINUED)
Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Ng Chi Wai
Mr. Hung Chun Leung
Mr. Chan Bing Kai

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out
under “Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual report.
Save as Ms. Chan Yin Yan is the daughter of Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, none of
the members of the Board is related to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam ("Mr. Chan") is the chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer of the Company. Although this deviates from the
practice under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, where it provides
that the two positions should be held by two different individuals, as
Mr. Chan has considerable experience in the enterprise operation and
management of the Company, the Board believes that it is in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole to continue
to have Mr. Chan as chairman of the Board so that it can benefit from
his experience and capability in leading the Board in the long-term
development of the Company. From a corporate governance point of
view, the decisions of the Board are made collectively by way of voting
and therefore the chairman should not be able to monopolise the
decision-making of the Board. The Board considers that the balance
of power between the Board and management can still be maintained
under the current structure. The Board shall review the structure from
time to time to ensure appropriate action be taken should the need arise.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company has complied with the CG Code.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Throughout the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements
of the Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules of having three
independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one third of
the Board) with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experience and independent judgement to the
Board and they are invited to serve on the board committees of the
Company. Through active participation at board meeting, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, all
independent non-executive Directors have made various contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders.

The Company has received written confirmation from each independent
non-executive Director of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in light of the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and re-election of directors and non-executive
Directors

All Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term, subject
to renewal upon expiry of the existing term. Each executive Director
is engaged on a service agreement for a term of three years. The
appointment may be terminated by either party by not less than
three months’ written notice. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company is appointed for a term of three years, which
appointment may be terminated by either party by not less than one
month's written notice.

The procedure and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are laid down in the Company's Articles of Association (the
“Articles”). The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing
board composition, monitoring the appointment of directors and
assessing the independent non-executive Directors.

According to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each
annual general meeting provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
In addition, any new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy in the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting
after appointment, and any new director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors are eligible for
re-election by the shareholders at the respective general meetings.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)

Appointment and re-election of directors and non-executive
Directors (Continued)

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM"),
Ms. Chan Yin Yan and Mr. Chan Bing Kai will retire at the AGM pursuant
to the Articles provisions stated in the foregoing paragraph. All the above
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the AGM. The Board and the Nomination Committee recommended their
re-appointment. The Company's circular, sent together with this annual
report, contains detailed information of the above retiring Directors as
required by the Listing Rules.

Duties performed by the Board and management

The Board is responsible for the overall development of the Group,
approving and monitoring the overall development strategy of the
Group, assessing, monitoring and controlling the operation and financial
performance, ensuring that the Directors perform their proper duties
and act in the best interests of the Group and hold discussions on
various important and proper businesses of the Company in a timely
manner. All Directors are entitled to raise and include any matters
that should be submitted to the Board for discussion in the agenda of
the board meeting. When the Board delegates different aspects of its
management and administrative functions to the senior management, it
has given clear directions in relation to the scope of powers of the senior
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances, the senior
management maintains regular communications and report of progress
to the Board. The management shall provide members of the Board and
specialised committees under the Board with appropriate and sufficient
information in a timely manner so as to update them with the latest
developments of the Group and to better facilitate the discharge of their
duties. The management team is accountable to the Board, executing
the strategies and plans formulated by the Board, and making decisions
in relation to the day-to-day operation of the Group. The management
reports monthly to the Board on the operation and financial performance
of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s corporate
governance policies which include:

(a)  to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’'s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
the directors and employees; and

(e)  to review the compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in the
corporate governance report.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Training, induction and continuing development of Directors

Prior to the Listing, all Directors have been given relevant guideline
materials and attended a training regarding the duties and
responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations
applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of interest in the Group.
Such induction materials and briefings will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors.
Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors will be
arranged whenever necessary. The Company will continue to arrange
and fund the training in accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code.

All directors have provided to the Company a record of the training they
received during the Year. Participation of continuous training of the
Directors and the nature of training are set out below:

Executive Directors BITEE

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) BRIGM A (F/E)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa EERZL

Ms. Chan Yin Yan PRAEIR L
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHITEE
Mr. Ng Chi Wai RERRE

Mr. Hung Chun Leung HEREE

Mr. Chan Bing Kai PRI ST

Note 7:Topics include without limitation the Company's business and corporate
governance matters.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)
Board Meeting

During the Year, four board meetings were held and the attendance
records of individual Directors are set out below:

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) PBRAR ST (£ /)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa EEWAZ T

Ms. Chan Yin Yan PRIEAR 22+
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHFHTEE
Mr. Ng Chi Wai RERLEE

Mr. Hung Chun Leung HER A

Mr. Chan Bing Kai PRSP St 4

Board committees
Nomination committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision B.3 of the CG Code.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include, without limitation,
(a) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's
corporate strategy; (b) to determine the policy for the nomination of
directors, identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for directorship;
(c) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors; and (d) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re- appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking
into the Company'’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director Mr.
Chan Tsan Lam; and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Hung Chun Leung and Mr. Ng Chi Wai. Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee met once to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, assess the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and other related matters of
the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company and also to enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the nomination
of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge,
industry and regional experience and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.
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THE BOARD (cONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)
Nomination Policy

A “Nomination Policy” for Directors was formally adopted and this
incorporated the nomination criteria and principles for Directors that
are set out in the Nomination Committee's terms of reference. The
Nomination Policy applies to the directors of the Company and where
applicable, senior management prepared for Board positions under the
succession planning of the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company; (ii) ensure
that the Board of the Company has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and (iii) ensure the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following
criteria should be considered:

4 Character and integrity;

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the Board
Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board,;

° Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity;

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company; and

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination process

Appointment of new directors

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed

election of director at the general meeting.

Re-election of directors at general meeting

(i)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.
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THE BOARD (cONTINUED)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination process (Continued)

Re-election of directors at general meeting (Continued)

(i)~ The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as director at the general meeting, the relevant information of the
candidate will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and
regulations.

Details of attendance of members at meeting of the Nomination
Committee held during the Year are set out as follows:
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Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
HEEBRE
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) BRI E(E/E) A
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HEREAE 11
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REEZE 11
Audit committee BERESE
The Company established the Audit Committee on 8 February 2018 with ~ ARAR2018F 2 A8 HRLEZZEE « Wik
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing & F TR BIE 321 1D EE A~ Bl 2 51 Bl §
Rules and code provision D.3 of the CG Code. MEDIGHFTEmBEEE -
The duties of the Audit committee include, without limitation, (a) to %V? S 2HRE ETEUE' TR o) B & e
review and supervise the financial reporting and financial controls; (b) BV BRERMBEES ) ZZ28ERET -

to be primarily responsible for making recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal; (c) to
review and monitor the external auditor’'s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards; and (d) to discuss the risk management and internal
control system, including the whistleblowing policies and systems for
employees and those who deal with the Group to raise concerns with the
Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to
the Group, with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Audit committee (Continued)

The Audit committee consists of Mr. Ng Chi Wai, Mr. Hung Chun Leung
and Mr. Chan Bing Kai, all of whom are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Ng Chi Wai is the chairman of the audit committee.

During the Year, the Audit committee met four times to review the
half yearly financial statements made up to 30 June 2023 and annual
financial statements made up to 31 December 2023 of the Company and

EETw

BEEZESH)

FERESE(E)

EZZESHRRTERLE HERLENEER
FEAL B BHEHABYIENTES - RE
BEEAEZEZESER -

RARFEE  BEREEEEBTNAEE AFH
RATIEZE2023F 6 A30 BHIEFERERE
FEZ2023F12 A3 BN FEMBRE LA

the effectiveness of the Company's financial controls, internal control A B BF #5324 - R EPELIE M A G B IE R4 R K
and risk management systems. R e
Details of attendance of members at meetings of the Audit committee BT ZEESRERAEELFEXZZES S
held during the Year are set out as follows: RIEEBIAT ¢
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
HEEERE
Mr. Ng Chi Wai (Chairman) REESE(ER) 44
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HER A A
Mr. Chan Bing Kai PR SRP& 5t 4 A
Remuneration committee FHESE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph E.1 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules.

The duties of the Remuneration committee, under the principle that
no Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration,
include, without limitation, (a) to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all directors and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (b) to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management, pursuant to
E.1.2(c) of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules; (c)
to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (d) to assess
performance of executive directors; (e) to approve the terms of executive
directors’ service contracts; and (f) to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED) EFEgm
Board committees (Continued) BEEZEEn)
Remuneration committee (Continued) FWESE(#)

The Remuneration committee consists of two independent non- ¥ EHEZEShM BB IEHNTITE BRI L L
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Bing Kai and Mr. Ng Chi Wai; and M RE&ELAER —BHITE EREMR L LA
one executive Director Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. Mr. Chan Bing Kai is the X - BRERE A AFHEESNTE -
chairman of the remuneration committee.

During the Year, the Remuneration committee met two times to review RAREE @ FTHEE @2 BITM AN G5 IAEH
the remuneration policy for all directors and senior management. Details 2 BREZLSREEEB 2 HEE - HHMEE
of attendance of members at meeting of the remuneration committee &RXERAFEHEHMEE S SZNFEN

held during the Year are set out as follows: o
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
HESEXH
Mr. Chan Bing Kai (Chairman) PREROESEE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam FRIZMR T 2/2
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REEREE 212
DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD EEESTi
Among the six Directors of the Group, two of them are female, AEERNZEEZH MEAZE HEZTH
accounting for 33.3% of the Board. 33.3% °
Gender diversity of the Board: FE2MRZ T
As of
31 December
2023
BZ2023%F
12A31H

Percentage of
total number of
Directors (%)

HEBEAE

Bo L (%)

Female 33.3%
Male 66.7%
Total Bt 100%

AEREEIFERARAR
2023F F 3]

&

N



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIRIRS

DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD (cONTINUED)

The Board targets to maintain at least 25% of the directors being women.
As of 31 December 2023, the Board comprises 2 female members, the
Board considers its diversity of gender is appropriate. The Nomination
Policy can ensure that there will be a pipeline of potential successors to
the Board which continues the existing gender diversity in the Board.

The Group remains committed to meritocracy in the Board, which
requires a diverse and inclusive culture where Directors believe that
their views are heard, their concerns are attended to and they serve
in an environment where bias, discrimination and harassment on any
matter are not tolerated. Where necessary, the Board will work with
external agency to identify and approach suitable candidates that would

EFgS Tt

EZCHEARBEL BN TEES - HE
2023F 12 A3 H EEgRFE 2B XS -
EEeRAHURZETIBEE - IRBER
AEREESEAEBTEHETE  NHMEEES
SHAMRZ T -

AEBRBEBHNRBESTEAZIAT » EXY
—EAZTREEXE BHXET  EFH

ERFERFIRE  REMBUNEHEE
Tk YAR—EARTTBREMNEEFER

RoBREBREZRBETIE - 4BRK EF
S EINEEB A1 - BRI REIAEE RE

enhance its composition and diversity, with a view to expanding the A ' A EBK N Zoit - §EEAE@EE
competencies, experience and perspectives of the Board as a whole. TR - KB LB -
GENDER DIVERSITY OF THE WORKFORCE L) b3 ES (4
Gender diversity of all employees (including senior management) of the AEE2EEBS(BESAEERE)NMERIZ T
Group: t :
As of
31 December
2023
HZE2023F
12A31H
Percentage of
total number of
employees (%)
(approximate)
HEESRAE
B2 (%)
(BE%E)
Female g 42%
Male ES] 58%
Total st 100%

As of 31 December 2023, the female representation of the Group
was around 42%, which is above the Board's aspirational target of a
minimum of 40% female representation. The Board considers that
gender diversity is currently achieved and is committed to maintain
gender diversity in respect of the workforce level through continuous
review of the gender ratio and recommend measures to allow more
females to participate in various levels of employment of the Group.

We strive to adopt a stringent recruitment process that allows us
to engage and develop staff. Our selection criteria include required
academic qualifications, personality, experience and skills. In addition,
we perform background checks and use interviews to determine an
applicant’s suitability prior to making recruitment decisions.
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GENDER DIVERSITY OF THE WORKFORCE (conTINUED)

Our Directors confirmed that the Group was in full compliance with the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong during the Year. In particular, the
Group's policy relating to compensation and dismissal of its employees
adheres to the relevant provisions in the Employment Ordinance.

The Group advocates a fair and open workplace and ensure that
employees are protected from all forms of discrimination against
gender, age, race, nationality, marital status, religion, etc. In 2024, the
Group will continue to sustain its inclusive culture where everyone has
the opportunity to grow and achieve their career objectives in the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa, who
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the Listing Rules.
Biographical details of Ms. Poon are set out under "Directors and Senior
Management” section in this annual report. The company secretary
undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Year.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 77 to 86 of this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to Mazars CPA Limited, the Company's auditors,

in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31
December 2023 are analysed below:

Types of services provided by the external auditors

Audit services fee for the year ended 31 December 2023
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Fees paid/
payable

Bt ERER
HK$'000

FET

HE2023F12 A31 HIEFERN
ZERE

1,320

The auditor’s remuneration disclosed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements included HK$246,000, which was paid/payable to the statutory
auditors of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company (not Mazars CPA Limited).
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for each financial year, which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the
results and cash flows of the Group for that year and in compliance with
relevant law and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgements and estimates that are reasonable,
and have prepared disclosure of the financial position of the Group with
reasonable accuracy at any time.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the
Group's assets and shareholders’ interests, and review and monitor
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management
systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that the internal control
and risk management systems in place are adequate. The purpose is
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatements, errors, losses or fraud, and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in achieving the Group’s business objectives.

Upon the Board's annual review, the Board considered the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programme
and budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit, financial reporting
functions, as well as those relating to the Group's ESG performance
and reporting. The Board identified and evaluated the internal control
systems in respect of the Group's financial, operational and compliance
control. The Board will review annually the nature and extend of
significant risks, and the Group's ability to responds to changes in its
business and the external environment. Unless authorized by the Board,
the Group shall not disseminate inside information relating to the Group
to any external parties.

The Group does not have an internal audit function due to the size of
the Group and for cost effectiveness consideration. The Group will
review annually the need for an internal audit function. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Board, through its Audit Committee
carries out reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems. The Board will review annually on the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems. The
Audit Committee had reported during the Audit Committee meetings
the key findings identified by the Company’s external auditor in respect
of the Group's internal controls and risk management and discussed
findings and actions or measures taken in addressing those findings.
The Company considers the internal control and risk management
system is effective and adequate during the year under review. No
material issues on the Group's internal control and risk management
system have been identified during the year ended 31 December 2023
which required significant rectification works.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may whenever it thinks
fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

If a shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at a shareholders’
meeting, the shareholder, who has satisfied the shareholding
requirements set out in the above paragraph headed "Procedures for
shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting”, may follow
the same procedures by sending a written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The shareholder should state his/her proposals
in the written requisition and submit the written requisition as early
as practicable to enable the company secretary to make necessary
arrangement.

Procedures for directing shareholder’s enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as

follows:

Address: Workshop Unit 6, 13th Floor, Block B, Hoi Luen Industrial
Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong

Email: info@hktcgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’
understanding of the Groups’ business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decisions.

The Company adopted a shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”’), which sets out the channels
for shareholders to communicate their views on matters affecting the
Company and for the Company to solicit and understand the views of
shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular,
through AGM and other general meetings. At the forthcoming AGM,
Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, and, where applicable, the
chairman of the independent board committee are available to answer
guestions at the shareholders’ meeting.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.hktcgroup.com where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company's business operations and development, financial
information and other information are available to public access.

The Board will review the Shareholders’ Communication Policy at least
annually to ensure its effectiveness. Having reviewed the different
channels of communication with shareholders, the Board is satisfied
that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been properly
implemented during the Year and is effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 30 May 2022, the Company adopted the amended and restated
Articles of Association to conform to the core standards for shareholder
protections set out in the updated Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules, and to
incorporate certain housekeeping amendments. An up-to-date version of
the Articles is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company respectively.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion on
the Group's future business development and an analysis of the Group's
performance during the year using key financial performance indicators
are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 5 and the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 11 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not aware of
material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
EMPLOYEES

We recognise that employees, customers and suppliers are keys to our
sustainable development. We are committed to establishing a close and
caring relationship with our employees, providing high quality products
and services to our customers and maintaining cooperation with our
suppliers.

We provide a fair and safe workplace, promote diversity, and provide
competitive remuneration packages and career development
opportunities for our employees based on their performance and
experience. The Group also provides regular training and development
resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at the same time,
improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group include market
and financial risks.

Market Risks

The fluctuation of prices of raw materials exposes us to risks. While
we monitor the price of raw materials and adjust our price quotations
accordingly, we may not be able to directly pass on any increase in the
price of raw materials to our customers in time or at all, which may have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conTINUED)
Financial Risks

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
shown in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of environmental protection and
has adopted stringent measures for environmental protection in order
to ensure our compliance with the prevailing environmental protection
laws and regulations.

During the year, the Group did not have any violation of relevant
environmental regulations and rules which gives rise to significant
impact to the Group's development, performance and businesses.

The environmental, social and governance report are provided in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance report” on pages 12 to 47 of this
annual report.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 187 of this annual
report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company at
the close of business on 18 June 2024. The proposed final dividend is
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The final dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid
on 28 June 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM to be held
on 30 May 2024, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 27 May 2024 to 30 May 2024, both dates inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of the Company should
ensure that all share transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, are lodged with the Company's branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on 24 May 2024.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS (cONTINUED)

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 14
June 2024 to 18 June 2024 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of
determining the identity of members who are entitled to the final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify
for the final dividend, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’'s Hong Kong branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 June 2024.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for the past
five financial years are set out on page 188 of this annual report. The
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in the Group's property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2023
are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the Company’s share capital during the Year
are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

On 28 December 2018, the Board approved and adopted a dividend
policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements, future business growth and its shareholding value.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the Year.
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RESERVES

Details of the movement in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 91 and Note 37(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Chi Wai
Mr. Hung Chun Leung
Mr. Chan Bing Kai

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Company's Articles, Ms. Chan Yin Yan and
Mr. Chan Bing Kai will retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a services agreement with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated by
either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors for a term of three years, unless
terminated by either party giving to the other not less than one month’'s
notice in writing.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service agreement which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Related Party Transactions”
in this report and Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements,
no Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURE

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire by means of acquisition of shares, or debt securities, including
debentures, of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS ' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At the end of the Year, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinances (the "SFQ")),
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing
Rules were as follows:

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company
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shares of shares of Total percentage of
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Name of Director Capacity b N VNNV RAEBLD
EEpng 54 ZBERHE ZREREE BRER B
(Note 2)
(K1at 2)
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam Interest in controlled 373,395,000 - 404,879,000 65.3%
corporation (Note 1)
BRIGMR I &= Rt EEES (A1)
Beneficial interest 30,864,000 620,000
EmigEm
ChanYin Yan Beneficial interest - 6,200,000 6,200,000 1%
PR R EmiEs
Poon Po Han Lisa Beneficial interest - 6,200,000 6,200,000 1%
o E I BEmiges
Hung Chun Leung Beneficial interest - 500,000 500,000 0.08%
HER EmigEm
Chan Bing Kai Beneficial interest - 500,000 500,000 0.08%
e EmiEs

Note 1: These shares are held by Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and
Treasure Line, all of which are wholly owned by Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is deemed to be interested in the shares held
by Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line.
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DIRECTORS ' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTINUED)

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company (Continued)

Note 2: These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company upon
exercise of the options granted under the Option Scheme (as defined herein
below).

Save as disclosed above, at the end of the Year, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At the end of the Year, the following persons (other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company) had interests in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company

EENEGD HEKROMRRESHE
F=16 )
RAEQATECRITEBRNERE (4

ZEBM TEAR RN IRIEBRIETE(EER
TIORBZ BRAREITRR S TEHITRICEZ

MteE2 -

Betn -
B EXFIEES  MAFER  SIEALQE
EEYIBTHRAEBRARRREMBBZEERCGE

& AR5 MEGOIE XV E D - RN
Sk EHERE PR A IRIERE 75 R IR R PIZE 352 5RAC
BRZIGEENELMANERIORE - XA

IRIFARZE ST Bl FA & K 2 7] B2 B 32 P 69 4 2 SO
o
FERRNRE G R HERR G HER

RAFER  MTAL(RRAEERERTH
ABBRIN AR BB KRR h AR E
&7 MG 5P 336 (AN R BIRCERN X IR AT 1
ME MR

RAEAFECRITEBRNER

Number of
ordinary shares of

Number
of underlying
ordinary
shares of the

Approximate
percentage of

Name of shareholder(s) Capacity the Company held Company held® Total  shareholding
A AT

A AT HESER B #E
BERERE BB 514 ZBEREA = @it #Esk
Oceanic Green™ Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 shares - 127,100,000 shares 20.5%
|R EREBA 127,100,000R% % 15 - 127,100,0008%8% 1% 20.5%
New Strength™ Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 shares - 127,100,000 shares 20.5%
ik ERfEBEA 127,100,000 A& 15 - 127,100,000/% %1% 20.5%
Gold Alliance™ Beneficial Owner 94,395,000 shares - 94,395,000 shares 15.2%
oo EREBA 94,395,0008% 8% 1 - 94,395,0000%8% 10 15.2%
Treasure Line™ Beneficial Owner 24,800,000 shares - 24,800,000 shares 4.0%
Treasure Line EREAA 24,800,000% %1% - 24,800,0008%8% 1% 4.0%
Ms. Fung Suk Yee May? Interest of Spouse 404,879,000 shares - 404,879,000 shares 65.3%
g L2 o B e 404,879,000 %A% 15 - 404,879,0000%8% 1% 65.3%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (cONTINUED)

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line is wholly-
owned by Mr. Chan, who is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance, and Treasure Line.

(2) Ms. Fung Suk Yee May is the spouse of Mr. Chan. Therefore, she is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Mr. Chan is interested for the purpose of the
SFO.

(3) These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company upon
exercise of the options granted under the Option Scheme (as defined herein
below).

Save as disclosed above, at the end of the Year, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
other members of the Group, or any other substantial shareholders
whose interests or short positions were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 28 May 2019, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing reward to selected
participants for their contribution to the Group. Eligible participants of
the Option Scheme include, without limitation, employees, executive
directors, non-executive directors, shareholders, advisers and
consultants.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has the following
share options granted to the eligible participants under the Option Scheme:

MBS o

HE2023F12A831HILFE > KARDIRIE
BREZImAER2EER T BIRE

Options Options
outstanding Options outstanding Exercisable
as at forfeited as at as at
1 January during 31 December 31 December
2023 the year 2023 2023
H20235F H20235
1A1H 128318 R2023F
Grantees Date of grant Exercise price i RATHE FREK 8 RAT6E 128318
EBEA RH B TEE Y8 B v i 8 B 1 HY 8 B 1 BJFTE
(HK$)
(Ex)
Directors, chief executives
and substantial shareholders
EE  FETBAE
REERRE
Chan Tsan Lam 13 May 2020 0.355 620,000 — 620,000 620,000
BRIGEHK 2020465 A 13 H
Chan Yin Yan 13 May 2020 0.355 6,200,000 — 6,200,000 6,200,000
PR AR 20205 A13H
Poon Po Han Lisa 13 May 2020 0.355 6,200,000 — 6,200,000 6,200,000
EE IR 202045 A13H
Hung Chun Leung 13 May 2020 0.355 500,000 — 500,000 500,000
HER 2020465 A 13 H
Chan Bing Kai 13 May 2020 0.355 500,000 — 500,000 500,000
PR SR 20205 A13H
Employees and senior management 13 May 2020 0.355 17,850,000 (1,100,000) 16,750,000 16,750,000
BERESREERE 20205413 H
Service providers' 13 May 2020 0.355 3,920,000 (1,920,000) 2,000,000 2,000,000
R it g 2020465 A 13 H
35,790,000 (3,020,000) 32,770,000 32,770,000

Note 1: The terms of the share options granted and the rationale for making the
grants to service providers were disclosed in the circulars dated 25 April 2019
and 10 May 2019, which were approved at the annual general meeting on 28
May 2019, relating to the Adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued
under the Option Scheme and/or any other share option scheme of the
Company is 62,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the issued shares
of the Company as at the date of adoption of the Option Scheme and 10%
of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this report.

None of the options granted to any employee participants would result
in the shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options granted to
such person (excluding any options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the scheme) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant to represent in aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue.

None of the options granted to any service provider would result in the
shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options granted to such
person (excluding any options lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the scheme) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant to represent in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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As at 31 December 2023, the total number of shares which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the share options granted and remained
outstanding under the Option Scheme was 32,770,000, representing
approximately 5.29% of the issued shares of the Company. The number
of options available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit (i.e.
the total number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all
options to be granted under the Option Scheme) as of 1 January 2023
and 31 December 2023 are 26,210,000 and 29,230,000 respectively,
representing approximately 4.23% and 4.71% of the issued shares of the
Company, respectively.

There is no sublimit on the total number of shares that may be issued in
respect of options to be granted to service providers under the existing
Option Scheme.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received annual confirmations from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold
Alliance, and Treasure Line and, in respect of their compliance with
the non-competition undertaking provided in favour of the Company.
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the said
undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green,
New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line have complied with the
non-competition undertaking since the Listing Date up to the date of this
report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 are disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. These transactions had either been discontinued before the
Company was listed on the Stock Exchange or constitute fully-exempted
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules as at the date
of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the Year is as follows:

The largest customer RBRARP

The five largest customers in aggregate hAREFAEE
The largest supplier BAHER
The five largest suppliers in aggregate hARHEEER

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERBRE

M2023F 12831 H  RIBEBREAERE
NEBTEINN BRI TR R T REAS T 31T/
R D 48 805 32,770,000 % - (R AR A B T
19 #75.29% » H E£2023F1 81 H K2023F12
A318 - RIEET %R 5 AT 45 /AR
EEEBREBIRERSRLNAE BRE
i Al B BT MY AR (0 42 ) 9 Bl /& 26,210,000 %
129,230,000 % © A RIMEER QB2 EHITRMD L
4.23% N2 4.71% °

RIRIRA B8 BB AT 81X T AR A% 1 e 7 0 R X
R A RE AT AR (D AR SR SEFR ) o

PR R R B RS

AR EEEIERIRREMTAE - R 3
7~ &% K Treasure Line BEAEEETUAR
AINFRIEHEAN T RSB A BN FEEREREL - B
SIEHITEEDEZ LR - BRABREMN
S BER N - @WK Treasure LineE £
MAHEREEAREHBILBRETIFES
G o

RBKARS
AREFEHZE2023F12A31BIEFEFT LA
AR SHWBENGE P ERERMEST o RAR
LA ZEXSERARARREERZ AT ETAT
WIESIRIE EMRRIER 2 ERRIHERER
% o

FEEFRRMER

RAFE BRXEXFPRMHERSAEAE
B MIREEAER T

Percentage of the Group's total

EAREBUTHEENE DL
Revenue Purchases
Uz REEEE
21% N/A “iE F
69% N/A “iE F
N/A i F 26%
N/A i F 55%
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Save as disclosed above and so far as the Board are aware, neither the
Directors, their associates nor any shareholders of the Company (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's
share capital) had any beneficial interest in these major customers and
suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to
approximately HK$540,000.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, there was a sufficient prescribed public float of the issued shares
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every Director
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which he/she may sustain or incur by the
execution of his/her duty, provided that the indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any
of the said persons. The Company has arranged appropriate directors
liability insurance in respect of legal action against the Directors.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they are
advised to consult an expert.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditors, Messrs. Mazars CPA
Limited, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

mazars

To the members of
Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the "Group”) set out on pages 87 to 187, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group at 31 December 2023, and
of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

il N7 il 2 6 ¥ S

MAZARS CPA LIMITED
PERR(EB)EHMEEMERAA
42nd Floor, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BRETAEE 18RI RES2E
Tel E5E: (852) 2909 5555

Fax {2 (852) 2810 0032

Email EE: info@mazars.hk

Website #4811k www.mazars.hk
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
& N7 % EXBifi ¥k 25

KEY AUDIT MATTERS REBETFER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, BT FEESRIERMPINZEZHE - RAY
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial ZAFELAEVERENEBTRAEENFIE -
statements for the current year. These matters were addressed in the ZESEHEERMBITBESAPTHHRE LT

context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, EEZRFEITEREN - ZM T 2HZSEEIE
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate  tEEMNER -

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRENSEE BN ESNMEEBERENSE
Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
¥ BERREHRETE

Refer to Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements

B I TEIREMGE 2 % 14

At 31 December 2023, the Group has property, plant and  Our key audit procedures, among others, included:
equipment of approximately HK$612,489,000, which

approximated 62.9% of the Group's total assets. During BFIOBRENZ T RS (KR EE)

the year ended 31 December 2023, there was a significant
drop of revenue in the e-cigarettes products segment, the
management of the Group concluded there was an indication

— evaluating the independent professional valuer's
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

for impairment and conducted impairment assessment on SEYBN LA ER e BN

the prepaid land leases payments, leased properties and

buildings owned by the Group, to which allocation to each — understanding the methodologies used by the
business segment was considered impracticable by the independent professional valuer to estimate the
management of the Group, and machinery and equipment in recoverable amounts;

respect of the e-cigarettes products segment.
TRRBE Y EXMMEMPTERAN AU GG AT REE
R2023F12H31H EEENME BEAKKELD Lol
612,489,000 87T » K1h BEEEBEEN62.9% ° B = 2023
F1N2ANBLEFE  EFEERSWEER - EEEE
BEAR/FERENSR  tY SXREEENENLTHMEE
P MHEMELEF( EXEEEERRBREIERES
EBoHBATTIT)IREBETFEE RS B R HEE
TTRERTfE

The recoverable amounts of the prepaid land leases
payments, leased properties and buildings owned by the
Group have been determined based on their fair value less
costs of disposal using direct comparison method and
depreciated replacement cost. The recoverable amounts
of machinery and equipment in respect of the e-cigarettes
products segment have been determined with reference to
the value-in-use calculations using cash flow projections of
e-cigarettes products segment.

EXERBNEN THEER HEVEREFHAIKE S
BEENBEANEREEXN AN EREELBERKINES
BERAEET - BB TIEEMD BRI R RER A YD
SHEC2EERRSRERAESFRERSHNEAE
BETE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (coNTINUED)

Key audit matters

HARETEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

WX - BERREH B EFE (8

Refer to Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

PG FFRANF 2 R 14 (48)

The management of the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to provide assistance in estimating the
recoverable amounts of the prepaid land leases payments,
leased properties and buildings owned by the Group and
machinery and equipment in respect of the e-cigarettes
products segment. Based on the valuation, no impairment
loss on relevant assets was recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2023 because the recoverable amounts
of relevant assets are higher than the carrying amounts of
relevant assets at the end of the reporting period.

BEXENEEECZEBVEXGEMUAGE EXEEE —

MIENLHEENR EENEFIETFRERETEERD A
EVHE M R R R M R R BRER 7 B - ERNME(E - BE 2023
F1N2ANALFE  SERIATAHEBEENRERSE
FRMEREEENATRESENRERRSNEREENK
EfE

The assessment of the recoverable amounts is inherently
subjective as it involves the exercise of significant
management’s judgement and estimation.

ARESENFEAE EAEEIENE  RRESMETEX
B FIE S fhET o

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter
because of its significance of balance and the involvement of
significant management’'s judgement and estimation in the
assessment.

BAK LR ERBR A RERESFR  REASEHREX
BEYNEEEHTHENEAH S LA -

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
1 37 1 BXEM 3k 25

REENER®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNETONEERAREASE

communicating with the management of the Group
about the valuation techniques adopted by the
independent professional valuer, and assessing
the relevance and reasonableness of the valuation
techniques used by the independent professional
valuer;

B EREERERBYEXMHEMRANMGERE
TTEE - ARFHEB Y B X GHEM AN EEZNE
MR AR

assessing the appropriateness of the resale
values, adjustments and assumptions adopted by
the independent professional valuer based on our
knowledge of the business and industry;

REBRMBEHRITENTHE  FEEEEE BT
BEXGHEMRABNABRLBRAEE MK

evaluating the reasonableness of the underlying data
adopted in the valuation;

AHEERBOERER NS EME

evaluating the sensitivity of impairment assessment to
changes in key assumptions; and

AHA R RERREFRENENGRIE - &

assessing the appropriateness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

FHESR A MBS RRAEBRENEEE

AEEEIZERER AR
2023F F 3]
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (coNTINUED)

Key audit matters

HARETEE

Expected credit loss ("ECL") assessment for trade
receivables

ESEUS BN BRAEEER ([ BAEEER])FE

Refer to Notes 2 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements

\>§>

Bt a &N 2R 18

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$102,762,000
(after the loss allowance for ECL of approximately
HK$5,026,000), which approximated 10.5% of the Group's
total assets.

R2023F12A31E BESRURENEBEODR
102,762,000 7L(C At IR TR HIE & B 1R 18 495,026,000 8
) e BEREAEENLN105% -

The management of the Group performed credit evaluations
for the Group’'s customers and assessed ECL of trade
receivables. The assessments on credit-impaired debtors and
debtors with significant balances are separately assessed
based on the individual customer’'s settlement record,
their current repayment ability, and taking into account
information specific to respective customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the debtors
operated. In addition, the assessment on the remaining
debtors are established with a provision matrix with loss
rates based on ageing of debtors, as well as the Group’s
historical default rates and forward-looking information.
Most of these assessments involved significant judgements
of the management of the Group.

BEXEEEEY BRENEPETEENGLFIEEZE
WHIENFEREEERE - REEMNZPOAELCHE - 08
RIHERBEN D HIMEHEEERENEBARABERE
BREOVEHSAETHE - TEBHEREPUREBALEMR
RERZMEBER - IL5 - HEHBKEBANFEEBER
RBEBARKAL BEREELZOLERATEEERG
BEHEBRXETRERM - KEDZEFFEHEYS BEXE
BB EARHIE -

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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REFEER®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMNETNNEERAREASE

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

HPmEERETRF (R

{hBE) :

obtaining an understanding of the Group's credit risk
management and practices and the management's
ECL assessment of trade receivables and assessing
the reasonableness of the key underlying information
referenced by the management of the Group;

TR BEXENEERREELREERNEEEHES
FEN IR B R E B R IRE TR jﬁWE 8
BEREM2ENERABENEE AR

in respect of trade receivables of which were identified
by the management of the Group for individually
assessment, discussing with the management of the
Group about the status of significant individual debtors’
specific profiles and risks, reviewing their current
repayment ability and challenging the management’s
assumptions used to determine the ECL provision;

o BEEBEEIEERN AERNFHE 285 RGN
5B SREEEENWABENESAERER
ZRI R EHETS AERIAR R R R 2 Z B - B AP
BRNEREI NEREREANECRAEERR
LN R



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (coNTINUED)

Key audit matters

HARETEE

Expected credit loss ("ECL") assessment for trade
receivables (Continued)

ESEUS R BRAEEER ([ BAEEER )L (8

Refer to Notes 2 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

\>§r

Bt a B SR E N 2 % 18 (18)

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter
because of its significance of balance and the involvement of
significant management's judgement in the assessment.

B L RIERR AR E FH - RERGHEARE
KSR S E IR EME AR HE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
1 37 1 BXEM 3k 25

REENER®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNETONEERAREASE

for those trade receivables whose credit loss were
assessed using provision matrix, checking and
assessing whether the loss allowance for ECL was
properly supported by considering the debtors’ ageing
analysis and settlement records, history of bad debt
and available forward-looking information on a sample
basis; and

s AR EREE I EEERNZEE ZRUGRIRT
IR EERE M AR EREEENERRA
BREBEBAREON - BETH  BREL R

’%ﬁfﬁﬁ BRI Z AR &

considering the adequacy of the Group's disclosure
regarding the estimation uncertainty involved in
determining the ECL provision.

R BERENETRBEEBERBEMSRMEFTT
REEABHRETORE

AREEERERAR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (coNTINUED)

Key audit matters

REENER®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HARETEE

Allowance for inventories

FEREE

Refer to Notes 2 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements

BRJFE B HmEMF 28217

At 31 December 2023, the net carrying amount of inventories
amounted to approximately HK$78,213,000, accounting
for approximately 8.0% of the total assets. There was a
decrease in net realisable value of certain raw materials,
work-in-progress and finished goods due to obsolescence
and/or diminishing marketability as a result of changes in
market condition. As a result, a write-down of inventories of
approximately HK$6,100,000 was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

M2023F12A31 8 FEREFELA78,213,000%87T
HMEREERB.0% o & TEME - ER 5 KA MA) ] &5 %
ERLTIART R EEER IS AN HEER - Bt -
REE2023F12A31HIEFE - FEMIEL 6,100,000
TLERIEBZHER o

The allowance for inventories was assessed on the
management’s review of the condition of inventories at the
end of the reporting period, and allowances were made
for inventories that were identified as damaged, slow-
moving and obsolete or no longer recoverable. The inventory
review was carried out by the management of the Group on
a product-by-product basis. Allowances were made with
reference to the latest market prices and current market
conditions, including incremental cost directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental cost which must incur to
make the sale which involves the management's usage of
significant accounting estimates and judgements.

FERBIREEBEENREMARNFEMRELFHIL

AHEERXIE  BHEMBRH A RRENEEEL - &
SEEEERZAEREENFRETEE - BEREKS

ERMMERBAMTL(BREHREEREGEIZENARSIE
HIHE P R EREBEMBEANG A R HE) EE M IEE
ERA) R
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BEMNETNNEERAREASE

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

HfmERETEF R/ (EHRE)

— understanding the management’'s policy on
identification of damaged, slow-moving and obsolete
inventories and critically assessed whether appropriate
allowances had been made;

TREREERNERZE
WEARRH AR D

IR RER
EFLEERE

EEHER -

—  observing in the stocktaking process to understand any
damaged, slow-moving and obsolete inventories as
identified;

REERFBRETERATREMNESHFNOZE - F
HERERFE ¢

— evaluating the key assumptions, such as latest market
prices and current market conditions including
incremental cost directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental cost which must incur to make the
sale on a sampling basis;

BRMEEETEBERER  n&xFmELBRTR
(BRHEEERREEERANRAELHEERELN
IRIEENRA)



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (coNTINUED)

Key audit matters

HARETEE

Allowance for inventories (Continued)

FER%E (&)

Refer to Notes 2 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

BRfF A HAN L2 K17 ()

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter —
because of its significance of balance and the involvement of
significant management’s judgement and estimation in the
assessment.

B L =RFBR A RERESFER  REAREHRBER —
#BEZEHE S REBREE A L -
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REENER®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNETONEERAREASE

checking the utilisation of inventories across the
subsequent sales, on a sampling basis; and

B EEREERFENEABR &

assessing the sufficiency of allowances and related
disclosures on inventories made by the management of

the Group.
ik EEEEREMEFEREREBREESS R

E2)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in 2023
annual report of the Company but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Htt|m#

ERREFAHHMENBE - HMEHE
B BERR023FFRAMNER  BTEIEE
PR E IS RER R B MR ZBARE -

BN EANBRRNERLTRER A
B BRMATE RS AR ERET D

DKy A
EEB LR o

IRMEEEMBHREANETME - HFINE
TEMELMER  LHEIBIES  ZEEM
EMERESRAMBRRARMAERSBESD
FrTROBERFEEREBEREUTFFEEAN
R BN - ERBRFIERTHINHE - W
REPIRRZFEME N FEERHERRAL -
HMFEREZLEE - A | AL EE
¥R

AEEEIZERER AR
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2023
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

We communicate with the those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Lam Kwok Sun

Practising Certificate number: P08281

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2023
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

iRB I

Year ended 31 December 2023 EZ=2023F 12 A31 HIEFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&ET T
Revenue Wz 4 697,514 1,143,941
Cost of goods sold 2 an 85 E A AR (561,600) (883,868)
Gross profit EX 135,914 260,073
Other income E Al A 5 16,082 7,923
Other losses, net Hib BB F5E 6 (1,825) (7,669)
Reversal of loss allowance E 5 R BGRIE S B R AR
on trade receivables 33 570 216
Selling and distribution costs SHE Koy SRR (4,604) (5,795)
Administrative and other TR EMEERT
operating expenses (114,780) (130,714)
Finance costs RN 7 (5,436) (7,208)
Profit before tax RRBE A ER F 7 25,921 116,826
Income tax expenses FrigBiF sz 10 (2,464) (10,881)
Profit for the year attributable to AATERSEAEWN
equity holders of the Company FRER 23,457 105,945
Earnings per share attributable to RATERTE AEM
equity holders of the Company BRER (LB R)
(expressed in Hong Kong cents)
Basic N 12 3.78 17.09
Diluted e 12 3.75 16.99

AREEEZERERAR 87
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 2023F 12 A31 HIEFE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&ET T
Profit for the year FRER 23,457 105,945
Other comprehensive loss: Hitt 2 mEEE
Item that may be reclassified A& EEFIIA Bz 2 HA -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising BEIE MRS EERE N Z5E
on translation of foreign operations (10,019) (66,607)
Total comprehensive income for the AAFEZFEAELER
year attributable to equity holders of ZHEKEEEE
the Company 13,438 39,338

ap Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

‘ Annual Report 2023



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

iR RGN R

At 31 December 2023 #2023 12 431 H

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment =Y 14 612,489 664,999
Financial assets at fair value through BAREFABENSREE
profit or loss ("FVPL") (MEAREFFABE]D) 15 32,626 31,633
Rental deposits Heke 309 393
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE = 25 1,829 3,999
647,253 701,024
Current assets RBEE
Inventories rE 17 78,213 128,542
Finance lease receivables JEM B E T E KB 16 - 1,617
Trade and other receivables E 5 RHE AWK GRTE 18 113,301 237,368
Income tax recoverable AR B AT AL 3,024 542
Restricted bank balances PR HIERTT A B 19 = 7,152
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESFED 19 132,590 128,368
327,128 503,589
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables g5 RE A EMNRIE 20 104,728 252,383
Payables for construction in progress JEREZ T2 RTE 21 906 9,020
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEER 22 61,939 121,491
Deferred income R 2= 23 1,480 1,455
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 2,393 2,027
Income tax payables JEFTS R 2,240 4,855
173,686 391,231
Net current assets REBEEFE 153,442 112,358
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREBERE 800,695 813,382

AEREEIFERARAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RS RITGINAR

At 31 December 2023 72023412 31 H

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Non-current liabilities kRBERS
Payables for construction in progress JEEETRERIE 21 2,190 6,238
Interest-bearing borrowings SHEER 22 - 7,322
Deferred income EFEW 55 23 8,594 10,021
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 1,425 1,686
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 25 5,722 6,389
17,931 31,656
NET ASSETS BEERE 782,764 781,726
Capital and reserves ERR#E
Share capital (% 26 62,000 62,000
Reserves e 27 720,764 719,726
TOTAL EQUITY AR 782,764 781,726
The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 187 were approved 2587 H & 187 B4R & BB A R 2024 F 3 A

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 and

signed on its behalf by

CHAN Tsan Lam
FR 4R K

Director

EE

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2023
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CHAN Yin Yan
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Director
EF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= AN\
i 1

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

CRTTIES

Year ended 31 December 2023 EZ=2023F 12 A31 HIEFE

ADRERHE ALY
Share Share Capital Statutory  Translation Share option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BA  ROBE EXRE LAERE AERE BRERE  RHEA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T THL TR T THL TR T
(Note 26)  (Note 27(a))  (Note 27(b))  (Note 27(c))  (Note 27(d))  (Note 27(e))
(FzE2e) (MzE27(a)) (FfEE27(b)) (MEE27(c)) (BYE27(d)) (P&E27(e))
At 1 January 2022 M2022F€1A18 62,000 34,203 77,810 34,221 47,352 2,505 496,697 754,788
Profit for the year FRRF - - - - - - 105,945 105,945
Other comprehensive loss: Hin2@EE
Exchange differences arisingon B RIMTEELH
translation of foreign operations ~ E X ZE# - - - - (66,607) - - (66,607)
Total comprehensive (loss) FR2E(FE) SEEE
income for the year - - - - (66,607) - 105,945 39,338
Transactions with owners: BREANRS :
Contributions and distributions &R
Appropriation of statutory reserve  TREUATE &t - - - 853 - - (853) -
Forfeit of share options (Note 28)  BERRHE )RR (2% 28) - - - - - (70) 70 -
Dividends (Note 71) BB (Hi11) - - - - - - (12,400) (12,400)
- - - 853 - (70) (13,183) (12,400)
At 31 December 2022 W2022F12A318 62,000 34,203 77,810 35,074 (19,255) 2,435 589,459 781,726
At 1 January 2023 M2023E1A1A8 62,000 34,203 77,810 35,074 (19,255) 2,435 589,459 781,726
Profit for the year FRER - - - - - - 23,457 23,457
Other comprehensive loss: HittZEEE
Exchange differences arisingon B RIMEEELR
translation of foreign operations [ X %% - - - - (10,019) - = (10,019)
Total comprehensive (loss) FR2E(FR)
income for the year eyl - - - - (10,019) - 23,457 13,438
Transactions with owners: BREANRS :
Contributions and distributions &R
Forfeit of share options (Note 28) ~ BERHE R UK (5% 28) - - - - - (234) 234 =
Dividends (Note 71) BB H11) - - - - - - (12,400) (12,400)
B - - - - (234) (12,166) (12,400)
At 31 December 2023 H2023E12A31H 62,000 34,203 77,810 35,074 (29,274) 2,201 600,750 782,764

AEEEIZERER AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
|||m Iq @ niL E %

Year ended 31 December 2023 EHZ2023F 12 A31 BIEFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BT
Cash generated from operations BESES 30 102,038 168,637
Income tax paid BFER (5,774) (18,831)
Net cash from operating activities RETEMESEHEER 96,264 149,806
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Acquisition of a subsidiary I — i B A A 29 70 -
Interest received BUFE 2,933 928
Receipt of finance lease receivables LU ER fE Y 7t 8 AR & R IE 1,617 2,425
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - HERR
plant and equipment FrfS k18 28 109
Receipt of government grants in relation  WEREREUREE W2 -
to acquisitions of property, %55 N a% B BRI+ B
plant and equipment 247 209
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEE#% - W&E M&E (5,215) (4,958)
Net cash used in investing activities RETEBFIARSFE (320) (1,287)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEED
Dividends paid ERRE 1 (12,400) (12,400)
Inception of interest-bearing borrowings ¥4t S 32(b) 48,675 248,481
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings {EiEsT B & 32(b) (114,432) (343,090)
Repayment of payables for construction — (BEEMNERTIZIA
in progress 32(b) (6,848) (13,788)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE 32(b) (2,549) (11,386)
Interest paid BFE 32(b) (5,231) (6,651)
Net cash used in financing activities RMETBAMARSFEE (92,785) (138,834)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BERBEEZEY N
FE 3,159 9,685
Cash and cash equivalents at FUESRESESEY
beginning of the year 128,368 114,667
Effect on exchange rate changes HERFEH R 1,063 4,016
Cash and cash equivalents at FRESRESEEY
end of the year 19 132,590 128,368
92 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries referred to as the "Group”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on
26 April 2017 and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) on
8 March 2018. The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr.
Chan Tsan Lam (the “Ultimate Controlling Party”), who is also the
chairman and executive director of the Company. The registered
office of the Company is situated at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The
Company'’s principal place of business is situated at Unit 6, 13/F,
Block B, Hoi Luen Industrial Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in manufacturing and sales
of electronic cigarettes products (“e-cigarettes products”) and
medical consumable products, and providing integrated plastic
solutions in Hong Kong and in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The details of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs") and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure requirements under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
("Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency
of the Company. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest
thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2022
consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and
effective from the current year as set out below.

&m 8 il 15 #h 7Bl 5

Year ended 31 December 2023 EZ=2023F 12 A31 BILFE
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Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised
HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1
EBGHERE 158 2185]
Amendments to HKAS 8
BB GERZE 85 2185]
Amendments to HKAS 12

SRTBORIKE

SrtERTZER

from a Single Transaction

BE-RSELNEEIBERBETNIA

FegstERE 125 2 BFT

Amendments to HKAS 1. Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments require companies to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies.

The amendments have no effect on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the consolidated financial
statements. Management has reviewed the disclosure of
accounting policy information and considered it is consistent with
the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8. Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments clarify how companies should distinguish
changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting
estimates.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that, on recognition, give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"), which
are measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and
profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from owners
of the Company, in the consolidated income statement and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. The non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation, are measured initially
either at fair value or at the present ownership instruments’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis is
made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are initially measured at fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to
the owners of the Company and the non-controlling interest even if
this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED) FEFHBRR

Basis of consolidation (Continued) HEEEwW
Changes in ownership interest YRk Tty
Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that MAEERB AR AEEREEHIW
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity EEHREITHE - ATERARARZS -
transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non- Tl RIEERE RN RREDEL SR
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their B URBERHBARNEBERE
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the o IR ANAAZRSHEED MDD
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and WRENAAERNEAEZBEEERED
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised FHERIWEBRAARRGHEBA ©
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on A B R RSB AR ALl - HE
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate REEMNBRIETIME L ZTE ()
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of REREEHEE A RREHAERT
any retained interest determined at the date when control is lost AREBREEA A E B (i) RKREE
and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and TS BB AR IR TR ERNE
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the EBRENEB)RBEZEREE - £ARE
date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in R EERNEBMHENB AR
other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary CHEERRES AR EELERBEESK
are accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the BEMNR—EEER - RAIK B RRE
parent had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any KR E K AT 8 A Bl 45 R s RE A< AT B
investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts BARMEMEAREEEE AT
owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a FRSREE HERA A8 QRIHAE
financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as appropriate HRBERBERmME) °
from the date when control is lost.
Subsidiaries A A
A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group MEARIEX AR EIEHINERE - A%
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable B2 HEEREKASG N B8 0 HAER
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability RO FEEF  WREBBENZER
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The NEBZEOR  AIREEHZEREE
Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and - MBESEERIBERE R HKZIEE
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of flEERTIRE - ARSKEEENTE
the elements of control. In the Company’s statement of financial HEEWImEE 2EHE - RARBHE
position which is presented in Note 37 to the consolidated financial AR TR (RERE B w37 251)
statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less F o HB AR ERKARBEEE
impairment loss. The carrying amount of the investments is TR - MEESR KBS KEMNKRE
reduced to its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is BIREREEFREETKEISEE - 1B
higher than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries NAMFEEBRAR AR W R ERR S
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends R -
received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are
charged to the profit or loss during the period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives as set
out below from the date on which they are available for use and
after taking into account their estimated residual values, using
the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation
of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated
separately:

Right-of-use assets
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Shorter of useful lives or over the unexpired term of lease

EREEE A A HIER A sl R B BRI E HARR
Buildings 50 years or over the lease term, as appropriate
BF 50 F A FEVFRE AR (R IF A ME)

Leasehold improvements

20 years or over the lease term, as appropriate

HEMEEE 20F A EEVFRE HAR (R IB AT SE)
Furniture and fixtures 5 years

EMREEEE 54

Machinery and equipment 5-10 years

A N 2 5ZE 104

Motor vehicles 3 years

AE 3F

Computer 5-10 years

B 5E104F

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

Construction in progress represents buildings, leasehold
improvements, furniture and fixtures and machinery and
equipment under construction. It is stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when the
construction is completed and the asset is available for use.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Research and development cost

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred in
development activities, which involve the application of research
findings to a plan or design for the production of new or
substantially improved products and processes, are capitalised
if the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources to complete
the development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost
of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit
or loss as an expense as incurred.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments
and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the
Group's contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial
asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial asset and
either (a) the Group transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain
control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and an associated liability for amounts it
may have to pay.

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant
financing component) are initially recognised at their fair
value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially measured
at their transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition (Continued)

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured
at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“Mandatory FVOCI");
(iii) equity investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“Designated FVOCI"); or (iv) measured at
FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the Group’'s business model for managing the financial assets
and the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow characteristics.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial
recognition unless the Group changes its business model for
managing them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period,
following the change in the business model.

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
rental deposits, finance lease receivables, trade and other
receivables, restricted bank balances and bank balances and
cash.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Recognition and derecognition (Continued)

2) Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL, and financial assets resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets
that are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL. They
are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss
recognised in profit or loss, which does not include any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend
or interest income is presented separately from fair value

gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the

near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term

profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract
or not a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.

The Group's financial assets mandatorily measured at
FVPL include the unlisted investments — key management

insurance contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
liabilities.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
interest-bearing borrowings, payables for construction in progress
and lease liabilities. All financial liabilities, are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting
would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for
trading, financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL and financial liabilities that are contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.
They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss
(including interest expenses) recognised in profit or loss, except for
the portion of fair value changes of financial liabilities designated
at FVPL that are attributable to the credit risk of the liabilities
which is presented in other comprehensive income unless such
treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. The amounts presented in other comprehensive
income shall not be subsequently transferred to profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is:

(if)

(iif)

incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the
near term;

part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not
a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL

only if:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases;

they are part of a group of financial liabilities or financial
assets and financial liabilities that are managed and their
performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy; or

they contain one or more embedded derivatives, in which
case the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a
financial liability at FVPL, except where the embedded
derivatives do not significantly modify the cash flows or
it is clear that separation of the embedded derivatives is
prohibited.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract with a host that is not
an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as separate

derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their

economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those

of the host, and the hybrid contract is not measured at FVPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis other
than financial liabilities classified as at FVPL.

Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
("ECL") on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost
and lease receivables to which the impairment requirements apply
in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments
as detailed before, at each reporting date, the Group measures
a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the
lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial
asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)
Measurement of ECL (Continued)

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used
for determining the ECL should be consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS
16.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the past due information or
other credit risk characteristics.

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument, except in the case of Mandatory FVOCI, the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial instrument
that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)
Definition of default (Continued)

(i)  thereis a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
In particular, the following information is taken into account in the
assessment:

° the debtor's failure to make payments of principal or interest
on the due dates;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

° actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 2023F 12 A31 HIEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED) FEEERE®

Financial instruments (Continued) SWMIAm

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued) 2HEERAMELHEE)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued) 15 BRI AE LA ()

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group wmm AR AR N AREBREED

presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has Nam30 Ak - SHTANEER

increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual % B V)RR AR B L -

payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit REBRMSN - MEMT AERHRE B

risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since WETAEEERR AfEeREaR

initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have TEMEERRE BV ERAREREE Y

low credit risk at the reporting date. e

Low credit risk (=Y 2y A

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if: MBTHER R IESWETEAKE

BERR

() ithas a low risk of default; () HAKEORR

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual (il EEREENRBTELHEGHES:
cash flow obligations in the near term; and mEET K&

(iii)  adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the (i) BRI e & 5 R4 a9 T F &
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability gralgg(BE~—E)E ﬂiﬁﬁi"%)\@
of the debtor to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. THEHNRSREE TN

All financial assets, except for trade receivables and finance lease FiEcmEEE S ERFIA &F’Eqﬁl A

receivables, are determined to have low credit risk. MERERINEETE AHEEERR -

Simplified approach of ECL TERI(E BE BRI L)%

For trade receivables and finance lease receivables, the Group HEHEWIAR BN R EEERE - K

applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group SEERMLF EARAEBHEEESE -

recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each REERENFEHH 2 HBEBEES
reporting date and had established a provision matrix that BRRBERE  YERASEBTIEER
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for BB BEERE - HEREB AR
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic FEMRIE AR REBERFIELFE -
environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash
flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The
Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's procedures
for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or
loss.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED) FEFHBE
Cash equivalents REEEY
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, MiFERERERME ReSEBYWERE
cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments HernBEiE  HiEKEhaENE
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and HoRe BARZCEEEZIRRTE
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For ER - RERETBMRARNDENS - B
classification in the consolidated statement of financial position, SEEYKEEARSMEMRLUNEE - B
cash equivalents represent assets similar in nature to cash and FAEEZERS -
which are not restricted as to use.
Revenue recognition W
Rental income under operating leases is recognised when KEHEBTNZHESWANEE AR
the assets are let out and on the straight-line basis over the RIBEAANE G ERER  BURRE—15E
lease term. Variable lease payments that depend on an index sitb R Z AT EN RN R BBV E
or a rate are initially measured using the index or rate at the FZIEE S L R E - WHERZIBEE
commencement date and subsequently adjusted when such index LRGSR TR o ZEN KN HEERN
or rate changes. Such payments are recognised as income on L/{E EER BN - EMalEHE R
the straight-line basis over the lease term. Other variable lease B8 B 2 F A 50 2 SRR T 3R B A
payments are recognised as income in the period in which the RAWA o
event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.
Interest income FIEHA
Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the KEEMEEZFEWAERAEERENEE
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at MR o BIRE A A IR B IR A R EET
amortised cost or Mandatory FVOCI that are not credit-impaired, AHtE2EREHE AV EEEREZS
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount MEEMS ERMNEEAREE AR
of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross HE MEEERECZEREEMS -
carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired ERAR R AR EERE 2
financial assets. EEETE)
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 BB R ERE 155K B & A 498
Yk
Nature of goods or services B s R E
The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is as AEFRBZERIREAEELNT -
follows:
(i) manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products; (i) BEMHESTEESR
(i) manufacturing and sales of moulds and plastic products; (i) BUENHEERARERBRSL &
and
(i) manufacturing and sales of medical consumable products. (i) BENMHEER SRR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services
promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as a
performance obligation each promise to transfer to the customer
either:

(@) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b)  a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the
customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both
of the following criteria are met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable
of being distinct); and

(b)  the Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises in
the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service
is distinct within the context of the contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service
(i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as)
the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset (for
example, work in progress) that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c)  the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sales of e-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products and
medical consumable products are recognised at a point in time
at which the customer obtains the control of the promised asset,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods are
delivered to customers and the title is passed.

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e.
the customer or the Group is provided with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer), in
determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
consideration for the effects of the time value of money. The
effect of the significant financing component is recognised as an
interest income or interest expense separately from revenue from
contracts with customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate with
the rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and its customer at contract inception by
reference to, where appropriate, the interest rate implicit in the
contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the cash selling price
of the goods or services to the amount paid in advance or arrears),
the prevailing market interest rates, the Group's borrowing rates
and other relevant creditworthiness information of the customer
of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of
HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for the effect of
the significant financing component if the period of financing is
one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is
presented as a contract liability when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group's
right to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a
net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. Contract
assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

For the business of manufacturing and sales of moulds and
plastic products, it is common for the Group to receive from the
customer the whole or some of the contractual payments before
the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue recognition for
such transactions). The Group recognises a contract liability until
it is recognised as revenue. During such period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be accounted for as
the contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless the
interest expense is eligible for capitalisation. Contract liabilities in
relation to advances from customers are recognised under “Trade
and other payables”.

For the business of manufacturing of e-cigarettes products and
medical consumable products, the Group's billings to its customer
which are largely in line with the timing of revenue recognition and
no significant contract assets or contract liabilities are recognised.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). Other than those subsidiaries established in the PRC
whose functional currency is Renmenbi ("RMB"), the functional
currency of the Company and its other subsidiaries is HK$.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency
("foreign operations”) are translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

. assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented, are translated at the closing rate at the end of
each reporting period;

. income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at average exchange rate;

. all resulting exchange differences arising from the above
translation and exchange differences arising from a
monetary item that forms part of the Group's net investment
in a foreign operation are recognised as a separate
component of equity;

o on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation
and a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to the foreign operation
that is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the separate component of equity is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or
loss on disposal is recognised;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

. on the partial disposal of the Group's interest in a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation which does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
recognised in the separate component of equity is re-
attributed to the non-controlling interests in that foreign
operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss; and

o on all other partial disposals, the proportionate share of the
cumulative amount of exchange differences recognised in
the separate component of equity is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where applicable,
cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, is
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period of the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down
of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to assess whether there is
any indication that its property, plant and equipment (including the
right-of-use assets) and the Company's investments in subsidiaries
may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest
group of assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-
generating unit).
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
periods. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the
temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs
that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an
asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and
is released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at
inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases
and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated with these
leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease component
and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate
component are considered to be part of the total consideration
that is allocated to the separately identified components of the
contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises:

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses
and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation
is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term
and the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “Property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date of
the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d)  exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and

(e)  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount
rate when there is a change in the residual value guarantee, the
in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other than floating
interest rate). In case of a change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the
lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. If the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and
there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

(b)  the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(a) the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

(c)  the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate over
the revised lease term.

(d)  for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease,
the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease
and recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial or full
termination of the lease in profit or loss.

(e)  for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts for
the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease
or an operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as an operating lease if the head lease is a short-term
lease to which the Group has applied the recognition exemption.
Otherwise, the sublease is classified as a finance or operating
lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease
contract as a lease separately from non-lease components of the
contract. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on a relative stand-alone price basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessor - finance lease

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as
receivables at the amount of the Group’'s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases. The Group applies
the derecognition and impairment requirements in HKFRS 9 to the
net investment in the finance lease.

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance lease as a
separate lease if both:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

(b)  the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a modification to a finance lease that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group accounts for the modification as follows:

(@) if the lease would have been classified as an operating lease
had the modification been in effect at the inception date, the
Group:

(i) accounts for the lease modification as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification; and

(i) measures the carrying amount of the underlying asset
as the net investment in the lease immediately before
the effective date of the lease modification.

(b)  otherwise, the Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 9.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements
in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance ("MPF Ordinance”) for all of its employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries,
subject to a cap in accordance with the MPF Ordinance.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the reporting period. The
Group's obligations under the MPF Scheme are limited to the fixed
percentage contributions payable.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
employees of the Group's entities established in the PRC are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement plans
organised by local governments. Contributions to these plans
are expensed in profit or loss as incurred and other than these
monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

Long service payments

The Group's net obligation in respect of long service payments
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amounts
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their
services in the current and prior periods. The obligation is
calculated using the projected unit credit method and discounted
to its present value and after deducting the fair value of any
related assets, including those retirement scheme benefits.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group's employees, including directors of the Company,
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered services in
exchange for shares or rights over shares. The cost of such
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value of
share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a reserve within equity.
The fair value is determined using the binomial model, taking into
account any market conditions and non-vesting conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the vesting conditions are to be fulfilled, ending on the date on
which the entitlement of relevant employees to the award is no
longer conditional on the satisfaction of any non-market vesting
conditions (“vesting date”). During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed.
Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior
periods is charged/credited to profit or loss for the year of review,
with a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within equity.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other
than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or
services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the
goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of the
goods or services received are recognised as expenses (unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for
the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, any deferred
tax arising from initial recognition of goodwill, or other asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
undistributed dividend, except where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is measured at the
excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree (if applicable) and the fair value
of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed of the acquired business.

Goodwill on acquisition of business is recognised as a separate
asset and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses,
which is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment test and
determination of gain or loss on disposal, goodwill is allocated
to cash-generating units. An impairment loss on goodwill is not
reversed.

On the other hand, any excess of the acquisition date amounts
of identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the
acquired business over the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree (if
applicable) and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
interest in the acquiree, if any, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as an income from bargain purchase.

Any resulting gain or loss arising from remeasuring the previously
held equity interests in the acquiree at the acquisition-date fair
value is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a holding company of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the
entity).
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Related parties (Continued)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to a holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the executive
directors of the Company for the purpose of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker ("CODM"). The Company's executive directors and the chief
executive officer, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, have been
identified as the CODM that make strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements
are made by the management of the Group in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application
of the Group's accounting policies, reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They
are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience
and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Where
appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also
affects future periods.

(i)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (including
right-of-use assets)

The management of the Group determines the estimated
useful lives of the Group's property, plant and equipment
based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of the relevant assets of similar nature and functions.
The estimated useful lives could be different as a result
of technical innovations which could affect the related
depreciation charges included in profit or loss.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (including
right-of-use assets)

The management of the Group determines whether the
Group's property, plant and equipment are impaired
when an indication of impairment exists. This requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the property, plant
and equipment, which is based on the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. Where appropriate,
the fair value less costs of disposal was determined by the
management of the Group using the cost approach and/or
direct comparison method. Fair value which is determined
by using cost approach requires an estimation of new
or current replacement cost of the assets from which
deductions are then made to allow for physical deterioration
and all forms of obsolescence and optimisation. The fair
value using direct comparison method is based on available
data from observable market prices of similar assets.

Deferred tax assets

The recognition of the deferred tax assets depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than expected,
a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
such a reversal takes place.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(i)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets at FVPL

As disclosed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the financial assets at FVPL are related to
the unlisted investments in key management insurance
contracts and the fair values at the end of the reporting
period were determined with reference to the respective
surrender cash value of each insurance contract, which
is primarily based on the performance of the underlying
investment portfolio together with the guaranteed minimum
returns, reported by the bank on a regular basis.

Where the fair value of financial assets recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined by
reference to the surrender cash value. The inputs are
taken from observable markets where possible, but where
this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required
in establishing fair values. The judgements include
considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance
for trade receivables and finance lease receivables by using
various inputs and assumptions including but not limited
to risk of default. The estimation involves high degree
of uncertainty which is based on the Group's historical
information, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where
the actual outcome is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the profit or loss and the carrying
amount of trade receivables. Details of the key assumption
and inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements. If the ECL rates of the
trade receivables between 1 and 90 days past due had been
1% higher (lower) at the end of the reporting period, with
other assumptions held constant, the loss allowance would
have been approximately HK$69,000 (2022: HK$96,000)
higher (lower).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Allowance for inventories

The management of the Group reviews the condition of
inventories at the end of each reporting period and makes
allowance for inventories that are identified as obsolete,
slow-moving or no longer recoverable based on estimations.
The management of the Group carries out the inventory
review on a product-by-product basis and makes allowances
by reference to the latest market prices and current market
conditions.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Significant estimates are required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain where the final tax outcome of these matters may
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded
and such differences will affect the income tax and deferred
tax provision in the period in which such determination is
made.

Discount rates for calculating lease liabilities — as lessee

The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to
discount future lease payments since interest rates implicit
in the leases are not readily determinable. In determining the
discounts rates for its leases, the Group refers to a rate that
is readily observable as the starting point and then applies
judgement and adjusts such observable rate to determine
the incremental borrowing rate.

Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies

Property, plant and equipment used for generating rental
income

The Group has developed certain criteria in making
judgements whether certain properties used for generating
rental income are qualified and recognised in property,
plant and equipment. Certain properties comprise a portion
that is held to earn rental income, and another portion that
is held for use in the operation of the Group's business. If
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately
under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. The properties are investment properties only
if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services. Judgement is made in an
individual property basis to determine whether the above
criteria are so significant that property does not qualify as
investment properties.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED) 2.

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorising these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised HKFRSs that are
not yet effective for current year, which the Group has not early

adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1
BB GERZE 158 2185]
Amendments to HKAS 1
BAGFEEAE 198 2185]
Amendments to HKFRS 16
EBMBMEEAFE 1698 2185]
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
EEGTENE 7R K
BRYBHREERIE 75 2 1ER]
Amendments to HKAS 21
EREGFHERSE 2157 2185

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

FRWHHELEE 105K
BFEGETERE 28R ZEFT

n Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

FESHBE®
ERUBREERNRREE

RELEFEMBERIER - BAGEA
SEBAM TR ANFERRER - A%
B SRRV R] BT B

3%g) -

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current !
BEEDHEARESIERE ™

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants [
MM IERE A E

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
ERHADNNEEaEFD

Supplier finance arrangements "

HERRE LB

Lack of Exchangeability 12!

2 A

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture @

KREFEREBENFSAGECECRANEELESTEY

m 20241 A1 Bk %A R FE B E

0

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 2 202541 A1 B2 & F%BKFE BB
E0

Bl The effective date to be determined B EMEHBREE

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the new/
revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any material impact on
the Group's consolidation financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being identified as the CODM, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods delivered. No operating segments identified by
the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments are as
follows:

1) E-cigarettes products segment: manufacturing and sales of
e-cigarettes products.

2) Integrated plastic solutions segment: manufacturing and
sales of moulds and plastic products.

3) Medical consumable products segment: manufacturing and
sales of medical consumable products.

Segment revenue and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from manufacturing
and sales of e-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products
and medical consumable products.

Segment results represent the gross profit less selling and
distribution costs, reversal of loss allowance on trade receivables,
write-off of property, plant and equipment, loss on disposal
of property, plant and equipment and impairment losses on
property, plant and equipment incurred by each segment without
allocation of other income, other losses, net, administrative and
other operating expenses, finance costs and income tax expenses.
This is the information reported to the CODM of the Group for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

° segment assets include certain property, plant and
equipment, finance lease receivables, inventories and trade
receivables. Other assets are not allocated to operating
segments as these assets are managed on a group basis;
and
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments: (Continued)

o segment liabilities include trade payables and contract

liabilities. Other liabilities are not allocated to operating

segments as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

The followings are analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable and operating segments:

E-cigarettes
products

ETEER
HK$°000
Tt

PEEFE )
DENE R EE )

FREEE D B RIB B D
(&)

fe o #EERME

s NHABEERREZENFERGD
BE - HtBEORIRELZD

I .;A:); B EBEETIE

DA R B T 4R 4 T A 2 ) BB s
%ﬁi aN *F[

Medical
consumable
products

Integrated
plastic
solutions
—fe{xe
fRRF =R
HK$'000
THET

Total

BREEm
HK$'000
FTExT

mct
HK$'000
FTERT

Year ended BZE2023F12H318

31 December 2023 IEFE
Segment revenue D EBU S 122,726 572,400 2,388 697,514
Gross profit (loss) EF(EE) 15,176 122,913 (2,175) 135,914
Reversal of loss allowance B B EWZKIEE

on trade receivables ERERERE - 570 - 570
Write-off of property, plant Y% « BB M & &

and equipment - (191) = (191)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - ME&

plant and equipment R EEE - (27) - (27)
Selling and distribution costs  $5% & 7 $#5AK A& - (4,604) - (4,604)
Segment results DEBEELE 15,176 118,661 (2,175) 131,662
Unallocated income and KDAIWARF 5

expenses
Other income EHablg A 16,082
Other losses, net HibEiaEam (1,607)
Administrative and other ITE R H A&

operating expenses (114,780)
Finance costs U (5,436)
Profit before tax BR T A& A 25,921
Income tax expenses FrigBiFsZ (2,464)
Profit for the year F g A 23,457

Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE 202312 A31 BILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 3. SEBEH®
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PSR EE S
Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic consumable
products solutions products Total
—E{bx2e
EFEEM AR BEEED st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHEIT FHEIT T
Year ended 31 December HZE 2022912831 H
2022 IFFE
Segment revenue pak= il 553,226 587,126 3,589 1,143,941
Gross profit EH 113,001 146,875 197 260,073
Reversal of loss allowance & 5 EWFIA
on trade receivables Er B F R O - 216 - 216
Write-off of property, plant YE - R &
and equipment B i€ - (574) - (574)
Loss on disposal of property, HE¥ZE « BE MREEIE
plant and equipment (413) (6) - (419)
Selling and distribution costs  $5% K& 2 $#H5AK A - (5,774) (21) (5,795)
Segment results DERELE 112,588 140,737 176 253,501
Unallocated income and ARDIOMA K BT
expenses
Other income EmugA 7,923
Other losses, net H i EEFEE (6,676)
Administrative and other TR EME LT
operating expenses (130,714)
Finance costs ISR AR (7,208)
Profit before tax B 250 A1 g ) 116,826
Income tax expenses s fifst (10,881)
Profit for the year F R 105,945

AEEEIZERER AR
2023F F 3]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 2023F 12 A31 HIEFE

3.

Bl 5 ¥ 2% B 5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

PEEFE )
ITHEERAE

Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic  consumable
products solutions products  Unallocated Total
—BxE
ETEER BRAER BEHEER Ko et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET FET FEx FEx
At 31 December R2023F
2023/Year ended 128318/
31 December 2023 HZE2023%F
12831 BLLEE
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AJREDEHEE 35,625 388,403 6,918 543,435 974,381
Liabilities af
Reportable segment ARENHERE
liabilities 11,967 53,223 = 126,427 191,617
Other information Hipg
Capital expenditure EwNGET 140 1,616 84 7,978 9,818
Depreciation e 2,978 39,470 1,688 6,572 50,708
Write-down of inventories  TF & Hil$4 626 3,193 2,281 = 6,100
Research and e
development expenses 7,397 22,094 - - 29,491
Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic ~ consumable
products solutions products Unallocated Total
—Rex
BTEEMR AR BEEMES ROBC et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET FHET FHET
At 31 December N2022F
2022/Year ended 128318/
31 December 2022 HE2022%F
12831 BIEFE
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets A REDEEE 64,026 554,377 10,517 575,693 1,204,613
Liabilities aE
Reportable segment AmEDIaRE
liabilities 77,619 100,178 - 245,090 422,887
Other information Hipgp
Capital expenditure BERRAY 1,200 2,612 - 8,695 12,507
Depreciation e 3,798 37,752 1,710 6,374 49,634
Write-down of inventories &34 940 4,141 - - 5,081
Research and e
development expenses 16,359 16,598 - - 32,957

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (coNTINUED)
Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of the Group’s property, plant and equipment (“Specified
non-current assets”). The geographical location of the Specified
non-current assets is based on the physical location of the assets.

Specified non-current assets

=\
ik

Bl 5% ¥ 2% Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 12 A31 HILFE

PEEHE =)

i EE R

TRV EBEAEEME - BEMEE
(HEETEERHEE)HMIBMENELR - 18
FEIERBEENMIEMNE IUNEENER
(LB ABEKIE -

WHEHRBEE

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Hong Kong BE 6,210 6,132
The PRC s 606,279 658,867
612,489 664,999

Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of customers.

BRAKBEREIIGEPKENER IR
EFOMEZT -

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T T

Revenue from external customers RENFEF WG
The United States of America ENEBEREH 101,421 148,815
The PRC i 251,574 236,588
The United Kingdom HE 21,153 26,943
Hong Kong &E 91,033 53,260
Netherlands Gl 181,093 485,787
Japan SN - 24,440
India ENfE 40,208 65,358
Germany = 6,237 97,735
Others Hh 4,795 5,015
697,514 1,143,941

AREEEZERERAR
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{ NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&m 5 il 15 $R 2} Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 2023F 12 A31 HIEFE

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED) 3. #WEH
Information about major customers EREEEFMNEHR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding periods FEFE HAREI Y 2k B B P B e (G AR & Bl e
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as BEEE 0% HE
follows:

Integrated
E-cigarettes plastic
products solutions Total

—B{LEE
ETEEmR RRTTR #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TR FTERT

Year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20235128318

IEFE
Customer A and its affiliated BEPAREBB AT
companies - 143,509 143,509
Customer B and its affiliated BFEBRHEEB AT
companies 116,041 - 116,041
Customer C and its affiliated BPCREBBAF
companies - 93,762 93,762
Customer D %PD - 88,581 88,581
116,041 325,852 441,893
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE 2022912 A31H
IEFE
Customer A and its affiliated B AREBE AT
companies - 150,542 150,542
Customer B and its affiliated EFBREKEBAR
companies 543,651 1,091 544,742
Customer C and its affiliated BECMEBB AR
companies - 143,813 143,813
Customer D ZFD - Note Note
iikz3 itz3
543,651 295,446 839,097
Note: Revenue from the customer is less than 10% of the total revenue of the Kzt - BE2022F 12 A3BLEFE - kBEFP
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022. b AR EE R DR 10% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended

=

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2R Bl 5E

31 December 2023 #EZE2023F 12 A31 HILFE

REVENUE

2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT T

Revenue from contracts with customers EFB KR EERE 15 EEER

within the scope of HKFRS 15 REEFENRE

Sales of e-cigarettes products HEETEER 122,726 553,226
Sales of moulds and plastic products HEBRARBRBER 572,400 587,126
Sales of medical consumable products  $5%5 & FE M 2,388 3,589
697,514 1,143,941

The revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of
HKFRS 15 is recognised at a point in time.

KEBBMGREERE 15 RBENTS
BRMYEE TSR R — R B ERR o

OTHER INCOME 5. HfhltA
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FET
Bank interest income RITHBULA 2,727 623
Finance lease interest income REERER A 206 305
Government grants (Note) R (HTaE) 1,761 2,509
Management service income BEERBEMA 814 145
Rental and utilities recharge income HEMKEBREWA 3,149 663
Sales of scrap materials EERIHE 999 1,908
Sundry income AW A 1,418 1,770

Gain from early termination AT OB E (EAHEAN)

of lease (as lessor) 5,008 -
16,082 7,923

Note: Included in the amount is the amortisation of deferred government grant
of approximately HK$1,456,000 (2022: HK$1,498,000) in relation to the
acquisition of certain property, plant and equipment. In the opinion of the
management of the Group, the remaining government grants recognised
directly in profit or loss have no unfulfilled condition or contingency

relating to the government grants.

OTHER LOSSES, NET

W -FeResarBREETYE BERK
1#75 RA R IEIT BRI 46 B B8 8549 1,456,000 78
TL(2022%F © 1,498,000/87T) - REEER
BRAE 5 TRIBET EEERNEITHE
R A8 48 14 R 33 B {614 2 78 B IBUAT 7 AL A 3k
SREIE o

HtSiR2H

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Exchange loss, net i H B8 558 (2,560) (7,581)
Changes in fair value of financial assets AR EFTAEBRHNCRIEE
at FVPL (Note 15) NAEEB (AT 15) 953 905
Write-off of property, plant M - B kR
and equipment (191) (574)
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - BERREEE
plant and equipment (27) (419)
(1,825) (7,669)

AEREEIFERARAR
2023F F 3]

135

&



-

[ NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&=
milk 3

Bl 5 ¥ 2% B 5

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 2023F 12 A31 HIEFE

7.

136 Tian

&

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging:

7.

RRIR AU F
LEE IR T35 T8 78R -

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T T
Finance costs UE33%:N
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings 5B fERF & 5,052 6,515
Interest on payables for construction JENEEIRRFENFE
in progress 205 557
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNE 179 136
5,436 7,208
Staff costs, including BT A
directors’ emoluments (BIEESEHME)
Salaries, allowances and other e BERHMEYIET
benefits in kinds 136,628 163,721
Discretionary bonus FIIEIEAT 5,806 28,824
Contributions to defined [ E BB RET B K
contribution plans 9,410 13,434
Total staff costs (charged to “cost of BIRABEEGIAIEREE
goods sold”, “administrative and BRA ] [T R E e &
other operating expenses” klFE|(HmEA))
and “inventories”, as appropriate) 151,844 205,979
Other items Hthgge
Cost of inventories (Note) TFERAR(HZ) 561,600 883,868
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B Bl 35 B 1,566 1,531
Depreciation (charged to “cost of goods ~ #T& (GH A B M sHE AN |
sold” and "administrative and I 1TB R EAbae &
other operating expenses”, (fii@ )
as appropriate) 50,708 49,634
Write-down of inventories (charged FEMEGrAIBmmEERA]D)
to “cost of goods sold”) 6,100 5,081
Short-term lease payments HHEERIEA = 526
Research and development expenses A= 29,491 32,957

Note: (i)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, cost of inventories sold

included approximate HK$108,707,000 (2022: HK$149,897,000)
relating to the aggregate amount of certain staff costs, deprecation
of property, plant and equipment, which were included in the
respective amounts as disclosed above.

(i) For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were
no forfeited contributions in respect of contribution previously
made which were available to reduce the Group's existing level of

contributions to the relevant defined contribution retirement plans.

Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

Directors’ remuneration

The aggregate amounts of remuneration received or
receivable by the directors of the Company are set out
below.

Year ended 31 December 2023

8. HBREZFIREF

(a)

EEHM

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2R Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 12 A31 HILFE

ARBEFCDHRHERFM 2B
BEIT

BZE2023F 12831 HILEE

Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary  contribution
fees in kinds bonus plans Total
e BER TR
Bz HEWER HiEwA ST #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THT TAT THT TR
Executive directors ' HITEE
Chan Tsan Lam BRIZAR - 8,093 - 18 8,111
Chan Yin Yan 378 - 4,160 - 18 4,178
Poon Po Han Lisa RER - 3,445 - 18 3,463
Independent
non-executive directors’ BUHHITEE
Chan Bing Kai e 180 - - - 180
Hung Chun Leung HER 180 - - - 180
Ng Chi Wai RER 180 - - - 180
540 15,698 - 54 16,292

AREEEZERERAR

2023F F 3]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&m 5 il 15 $R 2} Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 2023F 12 A31 HIEFE

8. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS

8. BEREFER# =

(CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (a) EEHM
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE2022F 12 A3 HILFE
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary contribution
fees in kinds bonus plans Total
e 2k EBHH
EEHE  HtEWEH BT STEIET @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL FAT FAT THT FAT
Executive directors ! HiTEE
Chan Tsan Lam BRI - 6,807 15,436 18 22,261
Chan Yin Yan 530 - 3,380 3,293 18 6,691
Poon Po Han Lisa AR - 2,860 1853 18 4,731
Independent
non-executive directors? B TEE?
Chan Bing Kai BRE 180 - - - 180
Hung Chun Leung HER 180 - - - 180
Ng Chi Wai RER 180 - - - 180
540 13,047 20,582 54 34,223

138
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! The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

2 The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is also the chief executive officer of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above included those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

The Group's remuneration policy is to compensate its employees
based on their performance, qualifications and the Group's
operational results. The Group also reimburses its directors
of the Company and senior management of the Company for
expenses which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for the
provision of services to the Group or executing their functions in
relation to the operations of the Group.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or payable by the Group
to any of the directors of the Company in respect services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertakings during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(c) Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors

There were no other loans, quasi-loans or other dealings
in favour of the directors of the Company, their controlled
companies or entities connected with such directors entered
into or subsisted during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

(d) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Saved as disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Group was a party and in which a director of
the Company, or an entity connected with the director, had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

(e) Discretionary bonus

Executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus
payment which are discretionary and determined based on
the Group's performance.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2R Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 12 A31 HILFE

BREFREN»

(b) EERMAKEF

H E2023F K%20229F12A318 1t
FE  AEBEBERKNAREMRNE
EX AR EAERATRENBE A
AIEHEEBEN RS S EAERK
Z=vlI

(c) LESAZHEAZEN BEX
REMRS

HZE2023F K& 2022F12A831H
EHEE BMENAQRRES  FE
MIZERAGINEZEESHREDN
%ﬁ *AAJ4&TEZEME
o BERSHMZ S °

(d EBERXS  ZHIAEHWETH
EX#ER

%mA%ﬁﬁEWﬁm%ﬁ%%
S BEASE AN EEAR

%%&@%%%ﬁﬁ%%f%m%
FTEERIEREEEAEEBEER
SEEBBEANEMRS - T8
REHNRERSEZE 2023 F % 2022
FRANBLEFENTHEHEREST

-
i o

(e) BIBETEAL

ARBMTESFARESRHERR
BAREERREE AR

LEmEHMAL

HE2023F K% 2022F 12 A31BILEE -
AEBESHMALTHDHNOT

Number of individuals

A
2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
Director ) 3 3
Non-director FEER 2 2
by 5
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 2023F 12 A31 HIEFE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (conTINUED)

Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2022: two)
highest paid individuals who are not a director of the Company are
as follows:

AEEREFMALE®

ERME (2022 F - 5 )IERRREEZ
BEHMA T ZHBEBOT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T

Salaries, allowances and other e MENKEMGEYET
benefits in kinds 3,893 3,689
Discretionary bonus FIIEIEAT 1,006 727

Contributions to defined TE R KA IR

contribution plans 70 36
4,969 4,352

The number of the highest paid individuals, who are not the
directors of the Company (and including senior management
of the Company) whose emoluments fell within the following
emoluments band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000

=% 1,000,000/57C
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
1,000,001 870 1,500,000 87T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
1,500,001 870 2,000,0008 7T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
2,000,001 7702 2,500,000 87T
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
2,500,001 78702 3,000,000 87T

WHARRBEZEFHFHMN FUTHEEN K
SFMAL(REARASREEE)AK
W

Number of individuals

A

2022
2022 4F

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to any of these
highest paid non-director individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which any of these highest
paid non-director individuals waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. TAXATION

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2R Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE 202312 A31 BILFE

10. NI\

2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FET
Current tax BREAT 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax HBNE
Current year KEE 102 4,530
Over provision in prior year BT EBRERE (657) (55)
(555) 4,475
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PRI EFTISH
Current year AFEE 1,559 10,044
Over provision in prior year BEFEHERERE (258) (1,500)
1,301 8,544
Deferred tax (Note 25) EERLIE (H 2 25)
Origination and reversal of FrEEREER
temporary differences # o 598 2,185
Utilisation (Benefit) of ERERBIIEEE 2
tax losses recognised gFA(ER) 1,120 (4,323)
1,718 (2,138)
Total income tax expenses for the year SR NFT15HF = 258 2,464 10,881

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands ("BVI"), the Group is not subject to any
income tax under these jurisdictions.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the assessable
profits of a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary of the Group
(as elected by the management of the Group) is subject to the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime that the first HK$2 million
of assessable profits will be taxed at 8.25% (the "graduated tax
rate”), and assessable profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5% (the “standard tax rate”). The Hong Kong Profits Tax of other
Group's entities which established in Hong Kong and the Cayman
Islands is calculated at the standard tax rate of 16.5% of their
respective estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

The Group's entities established in the PRC are subject to PRC
Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") at a statutory rate of 25%, except
for Huizhou Tian Chang Industrial Company Limited* (M X
REXAR AT, which was approved to be a “New and High
Technology Enterprise” since December 2022 with a valid period
of 3 years. The “New and High Technology Enterprise” is subject
to a preferential rate of 15% during the valid period. The State
Taxation Administration of the PRC announced in March 2021
that enterprises engaging in research and development activities
would be entitled to claim at maximum 200% of their research
and development expenses as “Super Deduction”. The directors
of the Company consider the eligibility of the PRC subsidiaries
and recognise the additional tax deduction for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

RERASHEREBREZHE([EBREX
BB DERRINRG) - A% B BAMNZ
HERDERERMEMMAEH

HE2023F K 2022F 12 A31 HILFE
AEBREEFMRZAOME R A(HA
SEEEEED)NERTEABIZFE
FRRAE N BE 28 88 TRERES
M #128.25% ([REREK NERK > mM2B
BB T R FE R R A AS 12 16.5% S
([ZEHEK]) AEBEMRE B R
ERERNTNEENBEFER DRHEZE
2023 2 2022F 12 A3 HIEEEHERZ B
(5T FERRR R I 16.5% EVIZERT R+ E o

AEE RPN E R BEIL25%/)E
EREHNPEATCEMSHR(EEMSE
B HEENTARREEBRARA 2022
FNRABEA SFRMEE] BN
HisF - [EFBEMEE IRBRPBARNIE
15% EBRMELN - PEBIRMIEER
R2021F3AEM  HEMBEFHNLE
Al A3 B A M e 200% B 5[ HEHH
Ble RRARIEEEREFRHNBARNE
o WHEREZE 20235 K 202212 A 31
B IFFEREEINEIRHIR -
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 2023F 12 A31 HIEFE

10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of income tax expense

10.

RE®
FrisBir L ¥ iR

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Profit before tax B B A& A 25,921 116,826
Income tax at applicable tax rate HEAREFTENEH 4,123 17,103
Effect on graduated tax rate RERERHZE (79) (165)
Non-deductible expenses R 250 316
Additional deduction allowance Dy NEOk R SN p==3:
for research and development costs (3,782) (4,723)
Tax exempt revenue SR (436) (230)
Tax concession TR (12) (30)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RIERHIBEHEZRIEBFE 379 423
Utilisation of tax losses previously AR G HERTIEREE
not recognised - (222)
Others Hib 5 (36)
Over provision in prior year BEFEHERERE (915) (1,555)
Write-down of deferred tax assets RIERTE B EMH 2,931 -
Income tax expenses for the year FRFEBIFY 2,464 10,881

The applicable tax rate is the weighted average of tax rates
prevailing in the territories in which the Group's entities operate.

11. DIVIDENDS

142
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11.

HERAREEASENEREEMERR
TTEV IR F AT R -

Bz B

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Final dividend in respect of 2022 of 2022 FARHAMR B AR LB AR
HK2.0 cents per ordinary share 2.0 (2021 F : 2.0FM)
(2021: HK2.0 cents) 12,400 12,400
Not recognised final dividend - RERH KRR E —RNEE
Final dividend declared after BEXRAPBRSIRMNERIBKRE
the balance sheet date of HK1.5 cents FREEA 1.5 81
per ordinary share (20224 : 2.0810) (K1:E)
(2022: HK2.0 cents) (Note) 9,300 12,400

Note: At a meeting held on 28 March 2024, the directors of the Company
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents (2022:
HK2.0 cents) per ordinary share totalling HK$9,300,000 (2022:
HK$12,400,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023. The proposed
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 will be accounted for as

an appropriation of reserves in the year ending 31 December 2024 if it

is approved at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The proposed

final dividend has not been recognised as dividend payables in the

consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2R Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 12 A31 HILFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. SEF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on profit BREAREF HENARR TR HE ARESA R
attributable to the equity holders of the Company and the weighted HZE2023F K2022F 12 AN ALEFEDBITY
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the years BRMNETHEEE -

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&xT T

Earnings for the purpose of calculating — FLatE A HEE N K #5% Z 7

basic and diluted earnings per share: 7 -
Profit for the year attributable to RARE=EEE ALY
equity holders of the Company FRE A 23,457 105,945
‘000 ‘000
T B TFhx
Number of shares: BRHEE -
Weighted average number of PETEHEBRERZF H
ordinary shares for the purpose of LA 9B
calculating basic earnings per share 620,000 620,000
Effect of dilutive potential BrEEETBRRTE
ordinary shares:
— Share options of the Company — AN EHE A 6,184 3,459
Weighted average number of METEEREERFIN
ordinary shares for the purpose of AR INREF
calculating diluted earnings per share 626,184 623,459
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FRRAERZFIGEM) 3.78 17.09
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) &R E 52 F| GB1L) 3.75 16.99
Note: For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the computation of Biat - B ZE 2023 F & 2022F 12 A3 HIEFE -
diluted earnings per share assumed the exercise of the first and second BHRARNBREAE — 3t M E - HE A
tranche of share options (Note 28) granted by the Company because the (FzE28) MITEEBER AR BN KT
exercise price of these share options was lower than the average market TE WETESRBERFRD R&Z
price of the Company's shares. ESHEREEITE -
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE 2023F 12 A31 HIEFE

13. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

Place of

incorporation/

establishment
HMRL/
kL

Name of subsidiary

WELRAER

Directly held by the Company
ARAEERE

Tian Chang Investments Limited The BVI
Tian Chang Investments Limited RERUEE
Sun Leader Holdings Limited The BVI
Sun Leader Holdings Limited ABRUHES
Indirectly held by the Company

AR AFERE

Tian Chang Holdings Limited Hong Kong
ARERBRAT] Bl
Tian Chang Industrial Limited Hong Kong
AREXARRA Bl
Tian Chang Industrial The PRCUI

(Shenzhen) Limited*
AREE(RINBRAR G

Date of
incorporation/
establishment

ML/
K B

20 April 2017

017F4A208
20 April 2017

01754 A208

16 May 2006

2006F5A 168
13 June 2006

2006564138

26 September 2006

2006F9A 28

Nominal value

of issued

share capital/
registered capital/
paid-up capital
BRIRE/
HMER/
BRETHREER

United States Dollar
("US$')1
1%&(ER])
USS1

E3

HK$10,000

10,0007C
HK$10,000

10,0007

Registered capital:
HK$100,000,000
Paid-up capital:
HK$100,00,000
FHEA:
100,000,000787C
HREX:
100,000,000787C

Attributable equity interest
held by the Company
KRR ENELES

2023
2023

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

2022
W0E

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities/
place of operation

TERY/BEnY

Investment holding/
Hong Kong

RERR/BE

Investment holding/
Hong Kong

Rank/ &%

Investment holding/
Hong Kong

REHR/BE

Sales of e-cigarettes products,
medical consumable products
and providing integrated
plastic solutions/Hong Kong

HEBTEEM
BRERmIIRGE B
ABRANE/BE

Manufacturing and sales of
e-cigarettes products and
providing integrated plastics
solutions/The PRC

RERHETTEERR
Rt—BICT 2R
R/ HE
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13. SUBSIDIARIES (conTINUED)

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Indirectly held by the Company
(Continued)

VNG|l 352 A6 )

Huizhou Tian Chang Industrial
Company Limited*

BENTAREXARAA

Sun Leader Mould Industrial Limited

HAERAERARAA

Sun Leader Mould Industrial
(Shenzhen) Limited*

HHUERA(MI)ARAR

Sun Leader Mould Industrial
(Huizhou) Limited*

FHERAEX(BM)ERAT

Tian Hong New Materials
Technology Limited

REF R BZARAE]

incorporation/
establishment

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2R Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE2023F 12 A31 HILFE

13. BEBAB @)

Nominal value

of issued

share capital/

Date of
incorporation/

Place of

registered capital/

paid-up capital
establishment BRARE/
M/ imEs/

ki s RYIBH BREFNRAEE

The PRC 22March 2011 Registered capital:
Renminbi (‘RMB')
50,000,000
Paid-up capital:
RMB50,000,000
AMER
AR#50,000,0007C
BREK:
ARH50000,0007
HK$1,000,000

q:(u)(ml 0ME3IA2AE

Hong Kong 27 September 2000

BF  200059A27R 1,000,000 7T

The PR 17 June 2011 Registered capital:
HK$56,000,000
Paid-up capital:
HK$56,000,000

AR -
56,000,000 37T
BRER:
56,000,000 T

Registered capital:
HK$80,000,000
Paid-up capital:
HK$80,000,000

AR :
80,000,000 87T
BREK:
80,000,000 7T
HK$10,000

EF@U)(H'] 011¢6ﬂ175

The PRCY® 27 June 2011

HEIID 201156 B27H

Hong Kong 10 October 2019

FE  019F10A108 10,000587C

Attributable equity interest

held by the Company
KAARENEGES

2023 2022
20235 0225

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

Principal activities/
place of operation

TEER/Reny

Manufacturing and sales of
e-cigarettes products,
medical consumable products
and providing integrated
plastic solutions/The PRC

HERHESTEERD
BREERR RS -B
ABERAR/F

Providing integrated plastic
solut'\ons/Hong Kong
RE-BICIBERNR/

Providing integrated plastic
solutions/The PRC

RE-BLIERATR/
i

Providing integrated plastic
solutions/The PRC

RE-BILIERRAR/
G

Sales of medical consumable
products and polyester fibre
("PET") products/Hong Kong

ﬁ EREAD L EEY S
([PET))ER/ B

AREEERERAR
2023F F 3]
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13. SUBSIDIARIES (coNTINUED)

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Indirectly held by the Company
(Continued)

VNG|l 352 A6 )

Tian Hao New Materials Technology
Limited*

REFHHR (M) ERAT

Tian Yuan Electronic Technology
Limited*

BRANEFHBARAT

Place of

incorporation/

establishment
B

The PRI

|:FJ @ (il

The PRC!ii)

I:F (i)

Date of

incorporation/
establishment

EMEL/
Y B

4 December 2019

2019F12 848

25 October 2022

2022108258

13. BEBAB @)

Nominal value

of issued

share capital/
registered capital/
paid-up capital
BRARE/
EmER/
HREANEEER

Registered capital:
HK$5,000,000
Paid-up capital:
HK$800,000"
AR :
5,000,000/
BREK:
800,000 &7
Registered capital:
RMB5,000,000
Paid-up capital
RMB400,000v
AR :
AR 5,000,0007
BREK:
AR 400,000 7Y

Attributable equity interest
held by the Company
AR EHNELER

2023 2022
0235 2022F

Principal activities/
place of operation

TEER/Reny

100% 100%  Manufacturing and sales of
PET products/The PRC
BERBEPETER,/FE
100% —  Sales of e-cigarettes
(Note 29) products/The PRC
(it 29)
BEBTEER/F

(i) Being a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

For identification purpose only.

(i) Being a wholly owned enterprise in the PRC.

(iii) Limited liability company registered in the PRC.

(iv)  The registered capital of Tian Hao is HK$5,000,000. At 31 December
2023 and 2022, the Group had injected HK$800,000 capital to Tian Hao
and the remaining amount shall be injected prior to 30 December 2029.

(v) The registered capital of Tian Yuen is RMB5,000,000. At 31 December
2023, the Group had injected RMB400,000 capital to Tian Yuen and the

remaining amount shall be injected prior to 24 October 2027.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (conTINUED)

(a)

(c)

Certain right-of-use assets in respect of the prepaid land lease payments,
buildings and machineries and equipment with aggregate net carrying amount
of approximately HK$374,666,000 (2022: HK$431,125,000) were pledged
as collateral to the Group's interest-bearing borrowings with aggregate net
carrying amount of approximately HK$56,165,000 (2022: HK$109,700,000) as
set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group reported gross
loss (2022: low gross profit) in its medical consumable segment due
to the keen competitions in the disposable face masks market. The
management of the Group identified the existence of impairment
indication and conducted impairment assessment on certain machineries
and equipment. The recoverable amount of these machineries and
equipment, within the medical consumable products segment, are
estimated individually.

The recoverable amounts of these machineries and equipment have
been determined based on their fair value less costs of disposal using
cost approach. Fair value which is determined by using cost approach
requires an estimation of new replacement cost of the assets from
which deductions are then made to allow for physical deterioration and
all forms of obsolescence and optimisation. The fair value measurement
is categorised into Level 3 fair value hierarchy. The recoverable amount
of the relevant assets were approximate to its carrying amount and thus
no further impairment loss was recognised during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: recoverable amount of the relevant assets were
approximate to its carrying amount and thus no further impairment loss
was recognised).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
significant drop of revenue arising from the e-cigarettes products
segment subsequent to the removal of the exclusivity term with
the major e-cigarettes products customer since March 2022. The
management of the Group identified the existence of impairment
indication and conducted impairment assessment on the prepaid land
leases payments, leased properties (recognsied as right-of-use assets
under property, plant and equipment) and buildings, and machinery and
equipment in respect of the e-cigarettes products segment.

The recoverable amounts of the prepaid land leases payments, leased
properties and buildings owned by the Group have been determined
based on their fair value less costs of disposal using direct comparison
met